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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Honorable Mayor and
Members of Council

City of Easton

Easton, Pennsylvania 18042

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the
aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, the aggregate remaining fund information, and the general
and debt service funds budgetary comparison statements of the City of Easton, Pennsylvania as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2019, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City's basic financial
statements as listed in the table of contents. We did not audit the financial statements of the City of Easton Redevelopment
Authority or the Easton Housing Authority. Those financial statements were audited by other auditors whosc report has not
been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included of the City of Easton Redevelopment
Authority and Easton Housing Authority, would be based on the report of other auditors.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of
internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial
audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. ‘The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting cstimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have oblained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.
Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in al! material respects, the respective financial position
of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major
fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Easton, Pennsylvania, as of December 31, 2019, and the
respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.



Other Matters

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's discussion and analysis
on pages 3-16, and schedules of changes in Net Pension Liability, City contributions and the related schedules for single
employer OPEB plan information on pages 83-92 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information,
although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who
considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational,
economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of Armerica, which consist of inquiries of
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management's
responses to our inquires, the basic financials statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic
financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures
do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise the City of
Easton, Pennsylvania's basic financial statements The accompanying supplementary information, such as Capital Projects and
Non-major Funds, are presented for the purpose of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial
statements.

The combining and individual non-major fund financial statements arc the responsibility of management and were derived from
and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements, Such
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other
records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the
combining and individual non-major fund financial statements are fairly presented in ali material respects in relation to the
basic financial statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 20, 2020, on our
consideration of the City of Easton, Pennsylvania's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance
with certain provisions of law, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matter. The purpose of that report is to
describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and
not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an
audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City of Easton, Pennsylvania's internal
control over financial reporting and compliance.

Easton, Pennsylvania
October 20, 2020 //j'w/,y,, e (:’W;%\M%jf



City of Easton, Pennsylvania
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

CITY OF EASTON, PENNSYLVANIA
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INTRODUCTION

This Management Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) presents a narrative overview and analysis of
the financial activities of the City of Easton (City) for the year ended December 31, 2019. We
recommend that it be read in conjunction with the accompanying basic financial statements and
notes to financial statements in order to obtain a thorough understanding of the City’s financial
condition as of December 31, 2019. This discussion focuses on the City’s primary government.
Component units, unless otherwise noted, are not included in this discussion.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Within the City-wide financial statements, the governmental net position decreased by $(986,788)
after current changes in net position.

The City’s overall financial position, as reflected in total net position, dramatically declined in the
prior year as a result of GASB 68, which required governmental entities to recognize unfunded
Pension liabilities. The Statement and its component statement No. 67 have a massive impact on
all government entity wide statements. It affects every government in the Commonwealth of PA
and every other government located in all 50 states, including state governments,

In 2019, the City encountered a slight dip in its strong financial performance within the fund
financial statements which highlight this performance. For your convenience and information, the
management of the City provides these financial highlights and executive summary:

*  Consecutive General Fund Surplus — The City is reporting its first decrease in its
General Fund balance after 13 consecutive surpluses. The City’s deficit from operating
activities was $(413,086) in 2019. The City administration did not have a need to
appropriate from the fund balance an amount of funds as a funding source for the 2020
budget.

* Adopted Fund Balance Policy — In December 2011, the City Council adopted a financial
policy to achieve certain fund balances by December 2016. In 2019, the City has
continued its efforts to meet these minimum levels. Specifically:

1) Minimum General Fund Balance — Set “at a minimum of 10% of budgeted
general fund revenues” by 2019 or $3.65 million using the 2019 budget for
reference. As of December 31, 2019, the City had a General Fund unassigned
balance of $5.21 million, which is above the minimum goal of the target date
year of 2019.

2) Minimum Health Care Fund Balance — Achieve “Should maintain a balance of
$3.00 million” by year end 2019, as of December 31, 2019, the Health Care Fund
had a balance of $.107 million. While the City is seeing better than anticipated
claims experience, which should positively impact this Fund, the City is planning
to revisit the current fund balance policy.
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3) Minimum Liability and Casualty Fund Balance — “Should maintain a balance of
$1.00 million” by 2019 As of December 31, 2019, the City had a Liability and
Casualty Fund balance of $.280 million, which is 28% of the minimum goal.
The City is also planning to revisit the fund balance policy for this fund, as well,
to reflect current circumstances.

These highlights are detailed in the information provided below.

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
This report consists of four parts:
* Management’s discussion and analysis (this section)
* Basic financial statements (including notes)
e Required supplementary information
* Supplementary information

Management’s discussion and analysis is a guide to reading the financial statements and provides
related information to help the reader to better understand City government. The basic financial
statements include notes that provide additional information essential to a full understanding of
the financial data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. Required
supplementary information is provided on the City’s pension and other post-employment benefit
plans and budget-to-actual figures for the General Fund and other budgeted major funds. In
addition to these required elements, an optional supplementary section is included with other
statements that provide particulars about minor funds.

The basic financial statements present two different views of the City.
*  Government-wide Financial Statements — The first two statements provide a broad
overview of the City’s overall financial status as well as the financial status of the City’s
component units, in a manner similar to private-sector business.

*  Fund Financial Statements — The remaining statements focus on individual parts of City
government. They provide more detail on operations than the government-wide
statements. There are three types of fund financial statements:

1) Government Funds Statements show how general government services - such as
public safety - were financed in the short term, as well as what remains for future
spending.

2) Proprietary Funds Statements offer short-term and long-term financial
information about the activities the City operates like a business.

3) Fiduciary Funds Statements reflect activities involving resources that are held by
the City as a trustee or agent for the benefit of others, including the City’s
retirement plans. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide
statements because the resources cannot be used to support the City’s programs.
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Table A-1 summarizes the major features of the City’s financial statements, including the area of
the City’s activities they cover and the types of information they contain.

Table A-1: Major features of the government-wide and fund financial statements

Government-wide

Fund Financial Statements

capital, short-term
and long-term

the year or soon
thereafter; no
capital assets or
long-term
liabilities included

capital, short-term
and long-term

Statements
Governmental Business-type Fiduciary
Scope Entire entity and The day-to-day The business-type | Instances in which
component units operating activities | activities of the the City
(except fiduciary of the City, such as | City administers
funds) public safety and resources on
public works behalf of others,
such as the
employee pension
plans
Required e Statement of Net | e Balance sheet ¢ Statement of » Statement of
financial Position e Statement of Net Position Fiduciary Net
statements ¢ Statement of Revenues, e Statement of Position
Activities Expenditures, Revenues, » Statement of
and Changes in Expenses and Changes in
Fund Balance Changes in Net Fiduciary Net
Position Position
o Statement of
Cash Flows
Accounting Accrual accounting | Modified accrual Accrual Accrual
basis and and economic accounting and accounting and accounting and
measurement resources focus current financial economtic economic
focus resources resources focus resources focus
measurement focus
Type of asset All assets and Current assets and | All assets and All assets and
and liability liabilities, both liabilities that liabilities, both liabilities, both
information financial and come due during financial and financial and

capital, short-term
and long-term;
funds do not
contain capital
assets, although
they can

Types of inflow
and outflow
information

All revenues and
expenses during
year, regardless of
when cash is
received or paid

Revenues for
which cash is
received during the
year or soon
thereafter;
expenditures when
goods or services
have been received
and the related
liability is due and
payable

All revenues and
expenses during
year, regardless of
when cash is
received or paid

All additions and
deductions during
the year,
regardless of when
cash is received or
paid
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The remainder of this overview explains the structure and contents of the government-wide and
fund financial statements.

Government-wide financial statements

Government-wide financial statements report information about the City as a whole using
accounting methods similar to those used by private-sector companies.

* The Statement of Net Position includes all the City’s assets and liabilities, except
fiduciary funds, with the difference between the two reported as net position. This
statement serves a purpose similar to that of the balance sheet of a private-sector
business.

* The Statement of Activities focuses on how the City’s net position changed during the
year. Because it separates program revenue (revenue generated by specific programs
through charges for services, grants, and contributions) from general revenue (revenue
provided by taxes and other sources not related to a particular program), it shows to what
extent each program has had to rely on local taxes for funding.

All changes to net position are recorded using the accrual method of accounting, which requires
that revenues are recorded when they are earned and expenses are recorded when the goods
and/or services are received, regardless of when cash is received or paid.

Net position is one way to measure the City’s financial position. Over time, increases or
decreases in the City’s net position are one indicator of whether the City’s financial position is
improving or deteriorating. However, other non-financial factors such as changes in the City’s
real property tax base and general economic conditions must be considered to assess the overall
position of the City.

The primary government and its components units are included in the government-wide financial
statements. Component units reflect the activities of legally separate government entities over
which the City can exercise influence and/or be obligated to provide financial support. The City
has three discretely presented component units including the Easton Suburban Water Authority,
the Easton Parking Authority, and the Easton Municipal Authority. Two additional component
units, the Easton Redevelopment Authority and the Easton Housing Authority, are not presented
in the financial statements.

There are two categories of activities for the primary government.

*  Governmental activities include the City’s basic services such as general government,
public safety, community development, public works, health and sanitation, parks and
recreation. Property & earned income taxes and operating grants & revenues finance
most of these activities.

*  Business-type activities generally charge a fee to customers to help cover the cost of
services.

Net position of the governmental activities differs from the governmental fund balances because
governmental fund level statements only report transactions using or providing current financial
resources. Capital assets are reported as expenditures when financial resources (monies) are
extended to purchase or build assets in the fund financial statements. Likewise, the financial
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resources that may have been borrowed are considered revenue when they are received in the
fund financial statements. Principal and interest payments are both considered expenditures when
paid in the fund financial statements. Depreciation is not calculated as it does not provide or
reduce current financial resources in the fund financial statements.

Government-wide statements are reported using an economic resources measurement focus and
full accrual basis of accounting that involves the following steps to format the Statement of Net
Position:

e Capitalize current outlays for capital assets
e Report long-term debt as a liability
* Depreciate capital assets and allocated the depreciation to the proper program/activities

e Calculate revenue and expense using the economic resources measurement focus and the
accrual basis of accounting

e Allocate net position balances as follows:
o Net investment in capital assets

o Restricted net position are those net assets with constraints placed on their use by
external sources (creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of
governments) or imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling
legislation

o Unrestricted net position are net assets that do not meet any of the above
restrictions.

Fund financial statements

Fund financial statements provide more detailed information on the City’s most significant funds,
not the City as a whole. Funds are accounting devices, i.e., a group of related accounts that the
City uses to keep track of specific sources of funding and spending for express purposes. Some
funds are required by state law, while other funds are established to control and manage resources
designated for specific purposes. Governmental fund financial statements are reported using
current financial resources and modified accrual accounting established by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) for governments.

The City has three kinds of funds:

e Governmental funds include most of the City’s basic services and focus on: (1) the flow
in and out of cash and other financial assets that can be readily converted to cash and (2)
the balances left at year-end that are available for spending. The twenty governmental
funds that the City maintains are reported using the modified accrual accounting basis,
and a current financial resources measurement focus. Consequently, the governmental
funds statements provide a detailed short-term view that helps determine the financial
resources available in the near future to finance the City’s programs. The primary
governmental funds are General, Debt Service, Liquid Fuels, Capital & Bond, and State
Grants.
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The relationship between governmental activities (reported in the Statement of Net
Position and the Statement of Activities) and governmental funds is described in a
reconciliation that follows the governmental fund financial statements.

Proprietary funds report business-type programs and activities that charge fees designed
to cover the cost of providing services. They report using the full accrual basis of
accounting.

Fiduciary funds are funds for which the City is the trustee or fiduciary. The City is
responsible to ensure the assets reported in these funds are used for their intended
purposes. This fiduciary activity is reported in a separate statement of fiduciary net assets
and a statement of changes in fiduciary net assets. These funds are excluded from the
City’s government-wide financial statements because the City cannot use these assets to
finance its operations.

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The City’s total assets and deferred outflow of resources were $89.77 million at December 31,
2019. Of this amount, $61.99 million was capital assets, including infrastructure and construction
in progress. Prior to the adoption of GASB No. 34 in 2003, infrastructure (roads, bridges, etc.)
had not been reported or depreciated in governmental financial statements.

GASB No. 34 required that all capital assets, including infrastructure, be valued and reported
within the governmental activities column of the government-wide financial statements, but
allowed infrastructure to be added over several years. The City believes it has included all
infrastructure in the 2019 financial statements.
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Table A-2: Condensed Statement of Net Position

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total

2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019
Current Assets $17,104,382 $14,044,790 $615,330  $546,166  $17,719.712  $14,590.956
Capital assets, net 62,616,926 61,993,370 y - 62616926 61,993,370
Deferred Outflow of 12,201,186 13,189,464 - - 12201,186 13,189,464
Resources
Total Assets/ 91,922,494 89,227,624 615330 546,166  92.537.824  89.773.790
Deferred Outflows
Current and other 14,320,620 5,863,103 569575 500,411  14.890,195 6,363,514
liabilities
Non-current 99,545,114 101,272,029 - - 99545114 101,272,029
liabilities
Deferred Inflow of 4,888.210 9.910,730 . - 4,888,210 9,910,730
Resources
Total
Liabilities/Deferred 118,753,944 117,045,862 569,575 500411 119323519 117,546,273
Inflows
Net position: Net
Investment in
capital assets 17,415,267 20,476,120 - - 17415267 20,476,120
Restricted net assets 6,761,274 3,110,638 - - 6,761,274 3,110,638
Ssrq‘g‘f:t““ed net (51,007,991) (51,404,996) 45,755 457755  (50,962,236) (51,359.241)
Total net position (26.831,450) (27.818,238) 45,755 45,755 (26,785.695) (27.772,483)
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Table A-3: Changes in net position

The following statement of activities represents changes in net assets for the year ended
December 31, 2019. It shows revenues by source and expenses by function for governmental
activities, business-type activities and the government as a whole.

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total

2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019
Program revenues:
Charges for services $15,801,633 $17,016,979 $5,461,401  $5,437,041 $21,263,034 $22,454,020
Operating grants and 5,399,970 5,709,295 86,748 86,748 5,486,718 5,796,043
contributions
Capital grants 1,594,046 1,212,079 - - 1,594,046 1,212,079
General revenues:
Taxes 19,730,729 19,896,369 - - 19,730,729 19,896,369
Interest earnings 39,994 51,903 - - 39,994 51,903
Misc. revenues 256,071 264,570 - - 256,071 264,570
Total 42,822,443 44,151,195 5,548,149 5,523,789 48,370.592 49,674,984
revenues
Expenses:
General government 8,236,509 8,012,717 - - 8,236,509 8,012,717
Public safety 20,022,222 22227311 - - 20,022,222 22,227,311
Health & Welfare 114,594 109,090 - - 114,594 109,090
DPW — Sanitation 5,329,678 5,862,979 - - 5,329,678 5,862,979
DPW — Highways 2,761,038 2,995,968 - - 2,761,038 2,995,968
Other Public Works 418,061 869,900 - - 418,061 869,900
Culture — Recreation 2,194,620 2,074,761 - - 2,194,620 2,074,761
Community 1,563,147 1,145,954 - - 1,556,147 1,145,954
Development
Debt Service 2,243,162 2,116,076 - - 2,243,162 2,116,076
Sewage Treatment - - 5,379,617 5,358,955 3,379,617 5,358,955
Total 42,883,031 45,414,756 5,379,617 5,358,955 48,262,648 50,773,711
expenses
Change in net position
before transfers/special
items (60,588) (1,263,561) 168,532 164,834 107,944 (1,098,727)
Transfers 168,532 164,834 (168,532) (164,834) - -
Sale of Assets 12,297 111,939 - - 12,297 111,939
Refund Prior Year 28.056 ) i } 28,056 )
Change in 148,297 (986,788) - - 148,297 (986,788)
net position
Net position, beginning (23,385,939) (26,831,450) 45,755 45,755 (23,340,184) (26,785,695)
GASB75 Adjustment (3,593,808) (3,593,808)
Net position,
onding (26,831,450) (27,818,238) 45,755 45,755 (26,785,695) (27,772,483)

10
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Total expenses for all programs in 2019 were $50.77 million. The expenses cover a range of
services, with the largest two being public safety at $22.23 million or 43.79% and general

government at $8.03 million or 15.82%.

Capital Assets

The City’s investment in capital assets at December 31, 2019, net of accumulated depreciation,
was $61.99 million. Capital assets consist primarily of land, site improvements, buildings and
improvements, machinery & equipment, infrastructure, water treatment plant, and construction in
progress. Table A-4 is a summary of capital assets as of December 31, 2018 and 2019.

Table A-4: Capital assets at December 31, 2018 and 2019

Governmental Activities

2018 2019
Land (Not Depreciated) $13,830,996 $13,830,996
Site Improvements 534,408 523,143
Buildings & Improvements 37,747,924 37,105,903
Machinery & Equipment 3,284,918 3,894,001
Infrastructure 1,768,002 1,600,456
Water Treatment Plant 5,450,678 5,038,871
Total Capital Assets
(net of depreciation) 62,616,926 61,993,370

The change in capital assets was not significant between 2018 and 2019. Most of that change is

related to the buildings and improvements and vehicles and equipment.

Long-term Debt

At December 31, 2019, the City had $56.96 million of debt outstanding, including bonds, notes,
and master lease purchase agreements. This was a net decrease of $4.61 million from the previous
year. Other obligations include post-employment benefits, accrued vacation pay and sick leave
and the net pension liability. Total other obligations were $50.23 million at December 31, 2018

and $48.02 million at December 31, 2019.

Additional information on the City’s long-term debt can be found in the disclosures to the

financial statements on page 51.

11
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Table A-5: Summary of outstanding debt

Governmental Activities

2018 2019
Pension Debt Obligations
Bond Series of 2007 $8,061,000 $7,136,000
Bond Series A of 2015 8,310,000 8,305,000
Capital Debt Obligations
Taxable Note of 2014 377,180 298,560
Bond Series of 2013 16,855,000 15,920,000
Series B of 2015 525,000 445,000
Series C of 2015 3,670,000 3,570,000
Series A of 2017 11,580,000 11,145,000
Series B of 2017 1,485,000 1,425,000
Series C of 2017 2,355,000 -
Series D of 2017 6,497,635 -
Series A 0f 2019 - 6,750,000
Other Debt Obligations
Master Lease Purchase Agreement 2009 361,269 264,265
EMA Note Series of 2014 Quakertown
National Bank 1,120,000 566,000
Lease Purchase Agreement 2015 Fulton Bank 107,583 36,303
Lease Purchase Agreement 2019 TD Bank - 238,524
Lease Purchase Agreement 2019 Fulton Bank - 102,880
Lease Purchase Agreement 2017 TCF 129,071 96,142
Lease Purchase Agreement 2018 Fulton Bank 138,921 110,250
Lease Purchase Agreement 2018 F.N.B. - 388,798
Total Outstanding Debt $61,572,659 $56,958,250

Bond Rating

The City of Easton had its credit rating reviewed by S&P Rating Services. Citing continued
strong financial management practices, Easton’s credit rating is A.

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

The City of Easton uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-

related legal requirements,

The focus of government funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, outflows, and
balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the City’s financing
requirements. In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of the City’s
net resources available for spending at the end of the year. Governmental fund accounting was
not affected by the adoption of GASB No. 34. Therefore, a schedule is presented to reconcile the

fund statements to the government-wide statements.

The City’s governmental funds include the general fund, debt service fund, capital and bond
funds, state grants fund, and other governmental (minor) funds. The general fund is the chief
operating fund for the City. The debt service fund is used to record the funding and payment of

12
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principal and interest on the issuance of debt in the governmental funds. The capital projects
funds account for the proceeds of bond issues, note issues, and extraordinary revenue used to
fund short-term capital needs. The major funds are shown on the Statement of Revenues,
Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance in the financial statements.

Total Governmental fund revenues

Governmental fund revenues by source for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2019 were as
follows. Table A-6 also presents changes from 2018 to 2019.

Table A-6: Revenues by source, total governmental funds

Changes from

2018 2019 2018 t0 2019

Taxes $19,704,680 $19,879,835 $175,155
Licenses 393,794 420,394 26,600
Fines & Forfeits 952,807 874,380 (78,427)
Interest & Rents 1,874,530 1,971,981 97,451
Intergovernmental 6,994,016 6,921,374 (72,642)
Charges for 12,620,496 13,755,329 1,134,833
Services
Miscellaneous 256,071 264,570 8,499

Total revenues $42.,796,394 $44,087,863 $1,291,469

Governmental fund revenues totaled $44.09 million for the year ended December 31, 2019. This
is an increase from 2018, primarily due to newly enacted revenue realized from storm water run-

off charges in the amount of $1,210,785.
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City of Easton, Pennsylvania

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Governmental fund expenditures

Governmental fund expenditures by function for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2019

were as follows. Table A-7 also presents changes from 2018 to 2019.

Table A-7: Expenditures by function, total governmental funds

General Government

Public Safety

Health & Welfare
DPW — Sanitation

DPW — Roads
DPW — Other

DPW — Storm Water Run-off
Culture — Recreation
Urban Development

Debt Service

Governmental fund expenditures totaled $48.22 million for the year ended December 31, 2019,
an increase of 8.02% from 2018. The increase in 2019 expenditures is largely explained by the

Total expenses

2018

2019

Changes from

2018 t0 2019
$7,407,932 $6,754,676 ($653,256)
19,469,010 20,618,599 1,149,589

114,594 109,090 (5,504)
5,179,909 6,036,545 856,636
2,825,992 2,917,595 91,603

352,247 634,175 281,928

- 383,719 383,719
1,931,363 1,790,804 (140,559)
1,759,030 1,127,895 (611,135)
5,525,853 7,847,499 2,321,646
44,545,930 48,220,597 3,674,667

payment in full of the 2017 Series C Bonds in the amount of $2,355,000 and an increase in costs
in the Public Safety.

Governmental fund balances and proprietary/internal net assets

Table A-8 reflects ending balances for governmental funds and net assets for proprietary funds at
December 31, 2019 and 2018.
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City of Easton, Pennsylvania
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Table A-8: Ending fund balances, governmental funds
Net assets, proprietary/internal funds
2018 2019
Governmental ~ Proprietary/internal ~ Governmental ~ Proprietary/internal
funds funds funds funds
General $5,623,591 - $5,210,505 -
Debt Service (81,176) - - -
Capital Projects 3,637,237 - 324,398 -
State Grants 2,184,863 - 2,343,162 -
Other 816,059 : 1,603,448 .
Governmental
Health - 155,113 - 107,685
Insurance - 754,061 - 280,132
Unemployment - 30,000 - 55,261
Sewer - 45,755 - 45,755
Total $12,180,574 $984,929 $9,481,513 488,833

The City’s governmental funds reported a combined fund balance of $9.48 million at December
31,2019. The City’s proprietary/internal funds reported a combined fund balance of $.489
million at December 31, 2019.

In 2019, $5.21 million or 54.95% of all governmental fund balances was recorded as unassigned.
The balance sheet for government funds provides a breakdown for all fund balances as required
by GASB 54.

Budgetary highlights

The Easton City Council approves the operating budgets for the general fund and several other
funds as required by City Charter and City ordinance. According to City charter, the expense
budget may be changed in one of two ways. First, the budget may be changed via administrative
transfer between specific line items from other line items or from contingency funds established
in the budget. Second, new appropriations are budgeted when received (via City ordinance) and
the anticipated related expense is budgeted at the same time.

Because the City is on a different fiscal year than the Commonwealth and the Federal
government, it is difficult to know what grants will be forthcoming in the City’s fiscal year. Some
revenue variances are due to budgeting for grants not received. Other revenue variances are based
on grants received but not anticipated. Otherwise, actual results were relatively close to budget
amounts, which is consistent with the City’s current conservative budgeting philosophy.

Collective Bargaining Issues

During the course of 2017, multi-year agreements were negotiated with two of the three labor
unions: Fraternal Order of Police (FOP) Lodge 17and American Federation of State County
and Municipal Employees Local 447; the City and International Association of Fire Fighters
(IAFF) Local 713 are in arbitration at the time of this report with a decision expected in late
2018. The new FOP Lodge 17 contract ends on December 31, 2020. The contract with IAFF
Local713 was renegotiated in 2017; the new contract ends on December 31, 2020. The

15



City of Easton, Pennsylvania
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

contract with AFSCME Local 447 was also renegotiated in 2017 and the new contract ends on
December 31, 2021. As of the issuance of this audit, the Administration was in negotiations
with both the Fire and Police bargaining units.

Economic Condition and Outlook

The vision of Easton's future growth and prosperity is built upon its proud history as a cultural,
commercial, industrial, and transportation hub. Easton is now poised as a destination for tourists,
artists, investors and residents, plus retail, restaurant, and service businesses. With over 27,200
residents within a region of 842,000, Easton is a full service working community that maintains
industrial areas with light manufacturing, distribution and warehousing, a vibrant downtown, and
residential neighborhoods.

Home to the Crayola Experience, National Canal Museum, Northampton County Historical and
Genealogical Museum and the State Theatre, among other attractions, Easton welcomes over
800,000 visitors annually. The City offers superior accessibility, enticing small-town ambiance,
town-to-gown connections with the prestigious Lafayette College, plus the new addition of
Northampton Community College and diverse culture and various historic attractions. Businesses
affiliated with the arts will find Easton in the midst of resurgence in the fine, industrial and
creative arts. An active and growing artist community is complemented by galleries displaying
nationally known as well as local artists’ work. Much of the revitalization of Easton's Downtown
can be attributed to the success of the many festivals and events that are supported by the City
and the Greater Easton Development Authority. The combination of these events, attractions and
the diverse restaurant scene has created a destination for weekdays, weeknights and through the
weekend.

The City of Easton has leveraged significant government dollars in public funding to spur
economic growth and activity from the private sector. These public dollars ($100M+), helping
bring in over $7500M of private sector investment and stimulus to the City. While the private
sector has done a significant amount of investing, including the re-use of a long unutilized space
downtown for three of Hearst Publishing’s (Fortune 500) publications, the public sector continues
to support the City’s growth. Adding this interest to the draw of the Crayola Experience and
other unique outdoor and family based attractions, Easton will continue to grow as the
playground for not only the residents of Easton, but the broader Lehigh Valley and New Jersey.

Requests for Information
Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for additional
financial information and complete financial statements for the discretely presented

component units should be addressed to the City Administrator, City of Easton, 123 South
Third Street, Easton, Pennsylvania, 18042.
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Current Assets:
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Investments
Taxes Receivabie (net)
Due From Other Governments
Other Receivables
Prepaid ltems
Inventory
Other Assets
Total Current Assets

Non-Current Assets:
Lease Agreement net of amortization
Capital Assets not being depreciated:
Land, Easements
Capital Assets net of accumulated depreciation:
Site Improvements
Buildings and Building Improvements
Machinery and Equipment
Infrastructure
Water Treatment Plant
Total Non-Current Assets

Total Assets

Deferred Qutflow of Resources:
Current Year Contributions PMRS
Current Year Contributions OPEB
Difference between Projected and Actual
Investment Earnings on Pension Plan
Difference between Expected and Actual
Experience Pensions

Change in Assumptions Pensions
Change in Assumptions OPEB

Deferred Charges on Refundings

Total Assets and Deferred Outflow of Resources

Current Liabihities;
Accounts Payable
Payroll Withholdings
Internal Balances
Due to Other Governments
Current Portion of Debt
Accrued Salaries and Benefits
Other Current Liabilities
Accrued Interest Payable
Total Current Liabilities

Non-Current Liabilities:

Bonds Payable

Capital Leases

Compensated Absences

Other Post-Employment Benefits

Net Pension Liability
Total Non-Current Liabilities
Total Liabilities

Difference between Projected and Actual
Investment Earnings on Pension Plans
Difference between Expected and Actual Experience -
Pensions
OPEB
Change in Assumptions-OPEB
Total Liabilities and Deferred Inflow of Resources

Net Position:
Net Investment in Capital Assets
Restricted for Acquisition of Capital Assets
Restricted for State and Federal Provisions
Restricted for Insurance
Unrestricted (Deficit)
Total Net Position

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflow of Resources
and Net Position

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement,

CITY OF EASTON

STATEMENT QF NET POSITION

DECEMBER 31, 2019

Primary Government

Governmental Business-Type Component
Activities Activities Total Units
$ 5,703,908 $ 540,228 $ 6,244,136 $ 6,911,958
- - - 1,242,253
3,412,375 - 3,412,375 -
1,149,144 5,938 1,155,082 -
3,468,549 - 3,468,549 3,152,001
12,336 - 12,336 156,611
- - - 819,619
298,478 - 298,478 -
14,044,790 546,166 14,590,956 12,282,442
- - - 480,000
13,830,996 - 13,830,996 498,075
523,143 - 523,143 -
37,105,903 - 37,105,903 2,678,653
3,894,001 - 3,894,001 2,048,351
1,600,456 - 1,600,456 83,856,158
5,038,871 - 5,038,871 16,462,474
61,993,370 - 61,993,370 106,023,711
$ 76,038,160 3 546,166 $ 76,584,326 $ 118,306,153
499,689 - 499,689 -
300,062 - 300,062 -
4,806,070 - 4,806,070 -
428,404 - 428,404 -
6,504,808 - 6,504,808 -
407,096 - 407,096 -
243335 - 243,335 -
$ 89,227,624 3 546,166 $ 89.773.790 $ 118,306,153
$ 1,486,382 $ 168,022 $ 1,654,404 $ 210,351
38,832 - 38,832 -
(196,645} 196,645 - .
- - - 153,010
3,710,782 130,105 3,840,887 2,354,816
112,884 5,639 118,523 33,422
474,252 - 474,252 284,970
236,616 - 236,616 65416
5,863,103 500,411 6,363,514 3.101,985
52,268,390 - 52,268,390 27,370,422
979,078 - 979,078 -
2,134,202 - 2,134,202 -
10,664,628 - 10,664,628 -
35,225,731 - 35,225,131 -
101,272,029 - 101,272,029 27,370,422
107,135,132 500411 107,635,543 30,472,407
6,958,752 - 6,958,752 -
811,639 - 811,639 -
1,686,552 - 1,686,552 -
453,787 - 453,787 -
$ 117,045,862 $ 500,411 $ 117,546,273 $ 30,472,407
20,476,120 - 20,476,120 75,806,069
324,398 - 324,398 -
2,343,162 - 2,343,162 -
443,078 - 443,078 -
(51,404,996) 45,755 (51,359,241) 12,027,677
(27,818,238) 45,755 (27,772,483) 87,833,746
$ 89227624 3 546,166 § 89,773,790 $ 118,306,153




g1 “JusWze)s SiY} Jo Ued [eiBojul UB oI SJUDWAIEIS [BIDUEUL) SY) O] S310U 3|

9bL€e8’L8 §  (€8Y°TLLLT) § SSL'SY s (8£T'818°LY) & Suipug - uonIsod 1N
SSPPLL'ES §  (S69°68L°9T) § SSL'S $  (0sp1£8°90) § Suumidag - uonisod BN
906690°1 - - - 513do[aAs(] Aq papiaoid onfep ende)
S8e°686C §  (88L°986)  § - §  (88L986) $ UOISOJ 1N Ul saSuey)
968°7¢ 18L%T£0T (PE8Y91) S19°684°07 $NUSAY [BISUID) [RIO],

- 0LSH9T - 0LS¥9T STIOSUB{[AOSIA

- - - - samyipuadxg Jes § 10114 Jo punjay

- 6£6°111 - 6€6°T11 51988V JO o[BS

- - (Pe8Y91) PE8Y91 SI9JSuel] punyIaIu|
958°7¢ £06°1S - £06°1S SSuruey 152191} PIIOLISAIUN)

- $ 69£°968°61  § - $ 69£°968°61  § saxe], 1Y)0 pue Apadord

SENUSADY [eI5U5E)

675996 § - $ - g - $ - $ - 3 TLEGLILT S (epp'eiTyl) § sanLIoyInY Sunjied pue 1alem
Sjup) Justodimo)

- ¢ (69S°11€°1D) § vE8yo1 ¢ (f0v'oLb'1D) § 6L0°TITT § £P0°96L'C  § 0T0'vSyZT § (108°SS0°0b) JUSWIUIAOD) Areullld [0,

L%

- vE891 PE8 91 : - 87L98 TPO°LEV'S $S68Es suonerad() Jueyd JusLyeal], a8eMog

SBNIATDY oUA[-ssaursng

- §  (0v'oLY'1D) § - $  (€0PILYIT) § 6L0TITT  § S6T60LS  § 6L6°9T10°LT S (9SL'pIY'SH)  § SANIATOY [RIUSUILISAOD) )0,
- (9L0°911°T) - (920°911°27) - - - (920°911°7) 921A10G 193
- £09°788 - £L9°C88 629°901 SI+'499 €85°L5T'1 (rs6'sy11) wowrdojaaa( Apunuio))
- (8T YHH1) - (T8THr 1) 6L6°50€ 000°0% 00S 8¢ (9L vL0D) UOREAINY - UMD
- 811°99¢ - 811°99¢ - 180°89 LEG'LITT (006°698) B_YO - 10 Ofqnd
- (€90°0¥2°0) - (€90°0+T°D) €06°SSL - - (896°566°0) SAemyBIH - SHIOM dNqng
- 89€°9L1Y - 89€°9LLY - L19°919 0£L°TTY'6 (6L6'798°¢) uonIEIUES - SYIOM JA[qud
- (z99°81) - (z99°31) - - 8T 06 (060°601) aIBJloM pue Ip[esy
- (eLseiessn - (zLseiessy) 99¢°th POL TS T 6LE6TET (re'Leeen Aioges ongng
- $  (Lo6‘69L’D) - $  (LO6'6SL'D)  § - s 88€°8LLT wrvor't § (LiLzios)  § JUSWIISAOD) [eIoUdD)
SeOTATIOY [EJUIUILIBACL
suuny 1e10], SOIIANOY SaNIALDY suonnguIuo)) SuoHNGLIUS) S3VIAIDG sasuadxyg
wauodwo)) adA 1 -ssauisng [BIUSLULLISAOD) pue pue sjuein) 10§ s851YD
sjueln [ende) Superado
uonisod 19N Ul saguey) pue anuaAd/(osuadxq) 1N SONUSAYY wieIdol

610C 1€ ¥HGNHIDAA IANT IVEA FHIL 904
SHLLIALLOV 40 INFWHIVIS
NOLSVH 40 ALID




61

“Juswatess siyi jo ued [ei3a1ul UB JJe SIUSWAIRIS [BIOUBUL] ) O SAI0U 3y ],

2RSS 897°118°1  § ¥80°1€0°1 60S°€61°1  § 0L0°9S€T  § 678°YTT $ €8L°v8S'8 §  saouefeg punyj pue SIUIIqel [RIOL
€15 1816 ¥ €09°1 £96°66 86£ VTS 661°CYTT - S0S°01T°S saouefeq punj [@10]
€0S°01Z°S - - - - - S0S°012°S paugisseup)
8PP €09°1 8¥Y° €091 - - - - - ilistivel
095°L99°C - £96°66 86£P7E 661°CHTT - - papLsay

- - - - - - - s1qepuadg-uoN

”mvucm_mm Uczm

0£0°0ZL°S 078°L0T 121°1€6 111°698 1L8°T11 628°7TT 8LTYLES $I2IN0SY JO MoYyu]

PaLIa(] pue Sani[Iqer] [eI0],
901°501 901°601 - - - - - S9BIRYD JJOUMY I9JEMULIOLS
165°6LS - - - - - 166°6LS ssupg Annn
LES6IS|T - - - - - LESBIS T saxe], Apadolg

- vzcu>mm u_n_m:miw:D
moouSOmoM mo >aOCE @wtﬂuﬂ
9€6°C1ISE PILTOL 121°1€6 111°698 128°T11 6T8°YCT 068 VLT saniiqery [elo ]
8TYLY 708°81 648681 - - - 109°692 SSNIIQEI] JUALIND BYIQ
¥88°C11 - - - - - ¥88°C11 SIJaUag pue SILIR[RS PANIooy
7£8°8¢ - - - - - 7€8°8¢ ssuIpjoyyi A [03keg
062°¢S$6 659°vS 9L1°8S1 £T9°0¥1 19¢°L€ - 697 ¥9S sjqede  sjunoddy
8LTYE6] $ €5T°6T $ 960°€8S 98%°8TL S 01§°SL $ 678°FTT § P01°¢6T $ spunj 1910 03 angg
SSTIIqer]
muo‘:._o.mum wo >>OEE votv.«oﬂ —ucm muC:Smm\H
£pCI0TST § 89T° 1181 § $80°1€0°1 60S°C61°1 S 0L0°9S€T  § 68°vTT $ €8Lv858 S §198SY [210]
SPO'CI81 900°1L - SEH LS - - $09°L0T°1 spunj LyIQ woy ang
8L7°86¢ y10°S6T - - - - v9t°¢ 19SSV 12410
y8ELIPE 0£8°€8¢ - - - - YSSEEIe $31qeA1903Y 1210
4 ¥348! - 6¥0°098 €80°9¢1 - - QNS SO[qRAIR25Y [BIUAWILISA0SIDIU]
SLETIY'E - - - - - SLETIV'E 3[qRAIDI3Y Saxe ],
L11°601°S g 8IP 191°1 § 6E01L1 686°0TS S 0L0°9SE'T  § 678°'YTT g 9LL'YLY $ SJus[EAINDY Yse) pue yse)
SESS
spunj spun,g spuny spun.j punyj puny pun, je1susn
[2IUSUIUISACD) [RIUWILIBAOD) juein) IofeN 13lo1g fenden sfanyg pinbr] 931AIDS 1G9(7
[e10], Ry

6107 '1¢ ¥HINEDHd

SANAQ TYINFWNYTIAOD - LHIHS 0NV IVE

NOLSVH 40 ALID



CITY OF EASTON
RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
DECEMBER 31. 2019

Amounts reported for governmental activitics in the statement of net position (page 17) are different because:
Total fund balances - governmental funds (page 19) $ 9,481,513

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and therefore are
not reported as assets in governmental funds. The cost of the assets is $95,274,540 and the
accumulated depreciation is $33,281,170. 61,993,370

Property taxes, utility charges, and earned income taxes receivable will be collected this
year, but are not available soon cnough to pay for the current period's expenditures and,
therefore, are deferred in the governmental funds. 2,204,494

Internal Service Funds are used to charge the costs of certain activities, such as insurance.
The net position has been included in governmental activities. 443,078

This represents deferred Outflow of Resources resulting in deferred charges on refunding
bond issues. 243,335

Deferred Outflow of Resources related to pensions are applicable to future periods
therefore are not reported in the funds.

Contributions subsequent to measurement date - PMRS 499,689
Contributions subsequent to measurement date - OPEB 300,062
Difference between projected and actual investment earnings on

Pension Plan Investments 4,806,070
Difference between expected and actual experience - Pensions 428,404
Change in Assumptions - Pensions 6,504,808
Change in Assumptions - OPEB 407,096

Deferred Inflow of Resources related to pensions and debt are applicable to future periods,
therefore, are not reported in the funds.

Difference between expected and actual experience - Pensions (811,639)
Difference between expected and actual experience - OPEB (1,686,552)
Difference between expected and actual investment earnings on

Pension Plan Investments (6,958,752)
Change in Assumptiions - OPEB (453,787)

Liabilities, including bonds payable, are not due and payable in the current period and,
therefore, are not reported as liabilitics in the governmental funds. Those liabilities at year-
end consist of:

Lease, Pension, Capital Debt Principal Payable ‘ 56,958,250

Accrued Interest Expense 236,616

Compensated Absences 2,134,202

Net OPEB Liability 10,664,628

Net Pension Liability 35,225,731 (105,219,427)
Total Net Position - Governmental Activities $ (27,818,238)

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 20
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CITY OF EASTON
RECONCILIATION OF STATEMENT OF REVENUE, EXPENDITURES,
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
TO STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31. 2019

Amounts reported for Governmental Activities in the Statement of Activities (page 18) are different because:
Net Change in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds (page 21) $ (2,699,061)

Capital outlays are reported in governmental funds as expenditures. However, in the statement
of activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives as
depreciation expenses. This is the amount by which depreciation expense ($2,029,664) is
more than capital outlays $1,406,108 in the period. (623,556)

Repayment of current bond and lease principal are expenditures in the governmental funds, but
the repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the Statement of Net Position. 12,469,086

Refunding bond issues becomes a use of current financial resources in governmental funds, but
refundings represent payments of long-term debt in the statement of net position. This figure
represents the annual amortization of the difference between refunding bond proceeds and the
refunding payments made to paying agents. (24,333)

The issuance of long-term debt provides current financial resources to governmental funds,
however has no effect on increasing Net Position. (7,854,677)

The net effect of changes in Pension/OPEB deferred outflows, deferred inflows and net

liability utilized in the determination of Pension/OPEB expense reported on governmental

activities column of government-wide financial statements to Pension/OPEB contributions

reported as expenditures in governmental funds.
Pension (1,299,599)
OPEB (506,331)

Because some property taxes, utility charges, and earned income taxes will not be collected for
several months after the City's year end, they are not considered "available revenues" and are
deferred in the governmental funds. Deferred tax revenues and utility charges increased by
this amount this year. 63,332

In the statement of activities, certain operating expenses (compensated absences) are measured
by the amounts earned during the year. In the governmental funds, however, expenditures for
these items are measured by the amount of financial resources used (essentially the amounts
actually paid). Vacation and sick ieave earned decreased by this amount this year. -

Interest on long-term debt in the statement of activities differs from the amount reported in the
governmental funds because interest is recognized as an expenditure in the funds when it is
due and, therefore, requires the use of current financial resources. In the statement of
activities, however, interest expenses is recognized as the interest accrues, regardless of when
itis due. Accrued interest payable on bonds increased by this amount this year. (15,553)

Internal Service Funds are used to charge the costs of certain activities, such as insurance. The

(decrease) in net position has been allocated within governmental activities. (496,096)
Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities $  (986,788)

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF EASTON
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

Business-type Governmental
Activities Activities

Enterprise Fund

Sewage Treatment Internal Service
Fund Funds
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Cash Received from Governmental Entities $ 5,538,141 $ -
Participant Contributions - 677,790
Cash Received from Funds Alfocations - 4,553,948
Payments for Sewage Treatment Operations (5,431,277) -
Payments for Insurance and Claims - (5,590,652)
Net Cash Provided by (Used for) Operating Activities 106,864 (358,914)
Cash Flows from Non-Capital Financing Activities
Refunds of Prior Year Expenditures - 44,837
Other Revenues {(Expenses) (164,834) (10,554)
Net Cash Provided by (Used for) Non-Capital Financing Activitics (164,834) 34,283
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Interest on Cash Equivalents - 1,512
Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents (57,970) (323,119)
Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of Year 598,198 917,910
Cash and Cash Equivalents - End of Year $ 540,228 $ 594,791
Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash Provided by (Used for)
Operating Activities:
Operating Income $ 164,834 $ (531,891)
Adjustments to Operating Income to Net Cash Provided
by Operating Activities:
(Increase) Decrease Due from Other Funds 3,158 417,235
(Increase) Decrease Intergovernmental Receivables 11,194 -
(Increase Decrease Other Receivables - (51,165)
Increase (Decrease) Prepaid Items - (6,503)
Increase (Decrease) Intergovernmental Payables - -
Increase (Decrease) Due to Other Funds 28,946 (16,409)
Increase (Decrease) Current Liabilities (101,268) (170,181)
Total Adjustments (57,970) 172,977
Net Cash Provided by/(Used for) Operating Activities $ 106,864 3 (358,914)

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 25



Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Investments at Fair Value:
Fixed Income Securities
Corporate Stocks
Mutual Funds
Real Estate Fund
Accrued Interest Receivable
Other Receivables

Total Assets
Liabilities
Escrow Payable
Accounts Payable
Loan Payable
Total Liabilities

Net Position

Net Position in Trust for Pension Benefits and

and Other Purposes

CITY OF EASTON

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

FIDUCIARY FUNDS
DECEMBER 31, 2019

Aggregated Private-Purpose
Pension Fund Trust Fund Agency Fund
$ 2,603,228 $ 102,630 $ 27,346
5,489,848 - -
33,869,662 - -
17,953,019 2,459,580 -
36,647 - -
423 - -
$ 59,952,827 $ 2,562,210 $ 27,346
$ - $ - $ 27,346
14,505 - -
- 458,995 -
14,505 458,995 27,346
3 59,938,322 $ 2,103,215

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF EASTON
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET POSITION
FIDUCIARY FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

Aggregated Private-Purpose
Pension Fund Trust Fund
Additions
Contributions:
Employer $ 4,787,586 $ -
Plan Members 586,122 -
Other Sources 66,520 -
Total Contributions 5,440,228 -
Investment Earnings:
Interest and Dividends 1,460,539 104,471
Net Increase in Fair Value of Investments 9,053,178 322,716
Total Investment Earnings 10,513,717 427,187
Less: Investment Expense (233,291) (12,468)
Net Investment Earnings 10,280,426 414,719
Total Net Additions 15,720,654 414,719
Deductions
Benefits and Other Distributions 5,227,026 -
Administrative Expenses 27,661 146,057
Contribution Refund 59,497
Loan Interest Expense - 21,386
Total Deductions 5.314,184 167,443
Changes in Net Position 10,406,470 247,276
Net Position - Beginning 49,531,852 1,855,939
Net Position - Ending $ 59,938,322 $ 2,103,215

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF EASTON

GENERAL FUND
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

BUDGET AND ACTUAL

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31. 2019

Budgeted Amounts

Variance with
Final Budget

Original Final Actual Positive (Negative)
Revenues:
Taxes $ 15,672,297 $ 15,672,297 $ 15,244,350 $ (427,947)
Licenses and Permits 384,000 384,000 420,394 36,394
Fines and Forfeits 1,051,000 1,051,000 874,380 (176,620)
Interest and Rents 1,753,467 1,753,467 1,738,575 (14,892)
Intergovernmental 4,758,446 4,758,446 4,682,966 (75,480)
Charges for Service 12,314,349 12,314,349 12,136,094 (178,235)
Misccllancous 211,500 211,500 212,029 529
Total Revenues 36,145,059 36,145,059 35,308,788 (836,271)
Expenditures;
General Government 6,554,873 6,547,228 6,179,647 367,581
Public Safety 19,862,893 20,125,073 20,230,857 (103,784)
Health and Welfare 115,117 113,128 109,090 4,038
Public Works - Sanitation 5,379,097 5,313,260 5,192,234 121,026
Public Works - Roads 1,787,702 1,730,919 1,433,699 297,220
Public Works - Other 394,073 401,121 329,055 72,066
Urban Development 529,795 505,898 489,383 16,515
Total Expenditures 34,623,550 34,736,627 33,963,965 772,662
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over Expenditures 1,521,509 1,408,432 1,344,823 (63,609)
Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Sale of Fixed Assets - - 52,061 52,061
Transfers In - - - -
Transfers (Out) (1,701,509) (1,840,101 (1,809,970) 30,131
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (1,701,509) (1,840,101) (1,757,909) 82,192
Net Change in Fund Balance (180,000) (431,669) (413,086) 18,583
Fund Balance - Beginning 5,623,591 5,623,591 5,623,591 -
Fund Balance - Ending $ 5,443,591 $ 5,191,922 $ 5,210,505 $ 18,583

‘The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.



CITY QF EASTON

DEBT SERVICE FUND

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

Revenues:
Taxes - Allocated from Levy
Local Governmental Contribution
Interest Income

Total Revenues

Expenditures:
Debt Service Principal
Debt Service Interest
Fiscal Agent Fees

Total Expenditures

(Deficiency) of Revenues over
Expenditures

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers In

Transfers Out
Refunding Bonds Issued
Refunded Debt Service and Costs

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Net Change in Fund Balance
Fund Balance - Beginning

Fund Balance - Ending

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

BUDGET AND ACTUAL

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

Budgeted Amounts

Variance with
Final Budget

Original Final Actual Positive (Negative)
3,374,376 $ 3,374,376 $ 3,443,556 $ 69,180
66,600 66,600 68,081 1,481
- - 3,291 3,291
3,440,976 3,440,976 3,514,928 73,952
3,184,316 3,184,316 3,340,905 (156,589)
2,160,469 2,160,469 2,148,594 11,875
. - 3,000 (3,000
5,344,785 5,344,785 5,492,499 (147,714)
(1,903,809) (1,903,809) (1,977,571) (73,762)
1,837,209 1,837,209 2,058,747 221,538
6,670,300 6,670,300 6,697,777 27.477
(6,670,300) (6,670,300) (6,697,777) (27,477)
1,837,209 1,837,209 2,058,747 221,538
(66,600) (66,600) 81,176 147,776
(81,176) (81,176) (81,176) -
(147,776) $  (147,776) $ - $ 147,776

29



CITY OF EASTON
RECREATION FUND
STATEMENT OF REVENUES. EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
BUDGET AND ACTUAL
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31. 2019

Budgeted Amounts

Variance with
Final Budget

Original Final Actual Positive (Negative)
Revenues:
Taxes - Allocated from Levy $ 1,142,170 $ 1,142,170 $ 1,191,929 $ 49,759
Intergovernmental 40,000 40.000 40,000 -
Recreational Charges and Hugh Moore Park 249,000 249,000 247,950 (1,050)
Miscellaneous 15,000 15,000 3,139 (11,861)
Total Revenues 1,446,170 1,446,170 1,483,018 36,848
Expenditures:
Parks, Recreation and Hugh Moore Park 1,362,227 1,435,438 1,455,568 (20,130)
Total Expenditures 1,362,227 1,435,438 1,455,568 (20,130)
Excess of Revenues over
Expenditures 83,943 10,732 27,450 16,718
Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers In - - - -
Transfers Qut (83,943) (83,943) (83,943) -
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (83,943) (83,943) (83,943) -
Net Change in Fund Balance - (73.211) (56,493) 16,718
Fund Balance - Beginning 148,980 148,980 148,980 -
Fund Balance - Ending $ 148,980 $ 75,769 $ 92,487 $ 16,718

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.



NOTE 1

CITY OF EASTON
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31.2019

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The City of Easton is a primary governmental entity whose operational procedures are defined by Third Class
City Code enacted by the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. The City functions as council members and mayor
chosen in a general election, and is considered to be fiscally independent.

The financial statements of City of Easton (the City) have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to governmental units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB) is the authoritative standard-sctting body for the establishment of governmental accounting and financial
reporting principles.

Reporting Entity

The reporting entity is comprised of the primary government, component units, and other organizations that are
included to insure that the financial statements of the City are not misleading. The primary government consists of
all funds, departments, boards, and agencies that are not legally separate from the City. For the City of Easton this
includes general operations, public safety, highways, public works, and recreational activities.

The City of Easton is a municipal corporation governed by an elected seven member City Council. As required
by generally accepted accounting principles, these financial statements are for the City of Easton (primary
government) and organizations for which the primary government is financially accountable. The City is financially
accountable for an organization if the City appoints a voting majority of the organization's governing board and (1)
the City is able to significantly influence the programs or services performed or provided by the organization; or (2)
the City is legally entitled to or can otherwise access the organization's resources; the City is legally obligated or
has otherwise assumed the responsibility to finance the deficits of, or provide financial support to, the organization;
or the City is obligated for the debt of the organization. Component units may also include organizations that are
financially dependent on the City in that the City approves the budget, the issuance of debt, or the levying of taxes.

Following is a brief description of each component unit meeting the above criteria and as a result included within
the financial reporting entity, a description of each component unit’s relationship with the City of Easton, and a

discussion of how component unit information has been incorporated into the financial statements:

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES

Easton Suburban Water Authority - The Authority is responsible for providing water service to surrounding
municipalities and contributing to the funding for the construction of the water treatment plant. All of the voting
members of the Authority are appointed by the City of Easton. Authority assets leased under the January 1, 2007
Operating Agreement would be transferable to the City upon termination of the Agreement on January 1, 2032. The
condensed financial information presented utilizes the “Government-Wide™ Financial Statement presentation as it
pertains to a single proprictary operation cntity for the year ended December 31, 2019 and is presented as a discrete
component unit.

Easton Parking Authority - All voting members of the Board are appointed by the City of Easton. The City is in
some manner obligated to provide financial support of the Authority. The condensed financial information
presented utilizes the “Government-Wide™ Financial Statement presentation as it pertains to a single proprictary
operation entity for the year ended December 31, 2019 and is presented as a discrete component unit.

Housing Authority of the City of Easton - The Authority was created by a resolution of the City of Easton. It
was organized as a public housing Authority as defined by the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, The Authority’s
Board of Commissioners is a five-member board appointed by the City of Easton. The Authority provides for
significant housing opportunities within the boundary limits of the City of Easton under the supervision of HUD.
The Authority’s information would be disclosed if the December 31, 2019 audit report had been available at the
date of the City’s financial statements.
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CITY OF EASTON
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019

NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd.)

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES (Cont'd.)

CITY OF EASTON
CONDENSED COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
BUSINESS-TYPE COMPONENT UNITS
AS OF DECEMBER 31. 2019

Easton Easton
Suburban Parking
Water Authority Authority Total
ASSETS
Current Assets $ 12,135,704 $ 146,738 $ 12282442
Non-current Assets 105,540,247 483,464 106,023,711
Total Assets $ 117,675,951 $ 630,202 $ 118,306,153
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities $ 2,902,519 $ 199,466 $ 3,101,985
Non-current, Long Term Debt 26,983,872 386,550 27,370,422
Total Liabilities 29,886,391 586,016 30,472,407
NET POSITION
Net Investment in Capital Assets 75,747,955 58,114 75,806,069
Unrestricted 12,041,605 (13,928) 12,027,677
Total Net Position 87,789,560 44,186 87,833,746
Total Net Position and Liabilities $ 117,675,951 3 630,202 $ 118,306,153
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NOTE 1

CITY OF EASTON
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31,2019

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd.)

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES (Cont'd.)

CITY OF EASTON
CONDENSED COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES
AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
BUSINESS-TYPE COMPONENT UNITS
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2019

Easton Easton
Suburban Parking
Water Authority Authority Total
Operating Revenues
Parking Garage and Lot Revenues $ - $ 1,298,961 $ 1,298,961
Water System Revenues 15,903,867 - 15,903,867
Total Operating Revenue 15,903,867 1,298,961 17,202,828
Operating Expenses
Parking related administrative and direct operating - 293,179 293,179
Water system related administrative
and direct operating 9,467,227 - 9,467,227
Depreciation 3,281,763 28,185 3,309,948
Total Operating Expenses 12,748,990 321,364 13,070,354
Net Operating Income 3,154,877 977,597 4,132,474
Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses) (175,284) (967,803) (1,143,089)
Change in Net Position 2,979,593 9,792 2,989,385
Capital Value Provided by Developers 1,069,906 - 1,069,906
Beginning Net Position 83,740,061 34,394 83,774,455
Ending Net Position § 87,789,560 b 44,186 $ 87.833,746

GOVERNMENTAL-TYPE ACTIVITIES

Easton Municipal Authority - The Easton Municipal Authority filed articles of incorporation with the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania on July 19, 2005.

In 2010, a Guaranteed Lease Revenue Note was signed with TD Bank to provide funds for a legal settlement.
The City sold the main fire station to the Easton Municipal Authority and entered into a Lease Agreement for the
full payment of principal and interest on the Note. The City and Authority refinanced the 2010 Note in the year
2014, and entered into a 2014 Note with Quakertown National Bank and is presented as a blended component unit.

Easton Redevelopment Authority - The Redevelopment Authority is responsible for administering various grants
which the City of Easton is the Grantee. All voting members of the Authority board are appointed by the City of
Easton and the City can modify or determine Authority programs and budgets. The Authority’s information would
be disclosed if the December 31, 2019 audit report had been available at the date of the City’s financial statements.
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CITY OF EASTON
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31,2019

NOTE1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd.)

GOVERNMENTAL-TYPE ACTIVITIES (Cont'd.)

CITY OF EASTON
CONDENSED STATEMENT OF NET POSITION - CASH BASIS
GOVERNMENTAL -TYPE COMPONENT UNIT
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2019

Easton Municipal

Authority
Assets
Future Lease Rental from Primary Gov't - City of Easton $ 566,000
Liabilities
Note Payable 566,000
Net Position s -
CITY OF EASTON
CONDENSED STATEMENT OF CASH RECEIPTS. DISBURSEMENTS
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
GOVERNMENTAL -TYPE COMPONENT UNIT
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2019
Easton Municipal
Authority
Receipts
Lease Payments from Primary Gov't - City of Easton 3 572,546
Total Receipts 572,546
Disbursements
Note Payments:
Interest Payments 18,546
Principal Payment 554,000
Total Disbursements 572,546

Change in Fund Balance -

Cash Basis Fund Balance - Beginning -

Cash Basis Fund Balance - Ending $ -

Easton Area Joint Sewer Authority

The City is a participating member of the Easton Arca Joint Sewer Authority (EAJSA). The EAJSA is run by a
governing joint board consisting of twelve members from participating municipalities. The EAISA joint board
approves an annual operating budget and each participating municipality pays a pro-rated share of operating costs
based upon proportional water flow amounts into the sewer plant and capital interest percentages of plant facilities.
The City's contribution to the EAJSA during the calendar year 2019 covering operating and debt service costs was
$2,706,863. Complete financial statements of the EAISA can be obtained from the EAJSA administration office at
50-A South Delaware Drive, Easton, PA.
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NOTE 1

CITY OF EASTON
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd.)

Joint Ventures (Cont'd.)

Easton Area Joint Sewer Authority

Service Agreement

The Sewage Treatment Service Agreement, dated as of April 1, 1988, as amended (the "Service Agreement")
between the Authority and the City, the Boroughs of Tatamy, West Easton and Wilson and the Townships of Forks
and Palmer (the "Participating Municipalitics") governs the provision of bulk sewage treatment service by the
Authority, prescribes the allocation among the Participating Municipalitics of treatment capacity in the plant, the
adoption of Authority budgets, payment of bills, compliance with laws, rules and regulations, the adoption by each
Participating Municipality of an annual budget, the setting of sewer rates and charges by the Authority Board, and
the payment of all amounts due by Participating Municipalities without suspension notwithstanding distribution or
other failure of plant operations.

Basis of Presentation
Government-wide Financial Statements:

The statement of net position and statement of activities display information about the reporting government as a
whole. They include all funds of the reporting entity except for fiduciary funds. The statements distinguish between
governmental and business-type activities. Governmental activitics generally are financed through taxes, inter-
governmental revenues, and other non-exchange revenues. Business-type activities are financed in whole or in part
be fees charged to external parties for goods or services. Program revenues include charges paid by the recipients of
the goods or services offered by the programs and grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the
opcrational or capital requirements of a particular program. Internal activity is limited to interfund transfers which
are climinated to avoid “doubling up” revenues and expenses. Net position is reported as restricted when
constraints placed on net position use are either externally imposed by creditors (such as through debt covenants,
grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments) or imposed by law through constitutional
provisions or enabling legislation.

Fund Financial Statements:

Fund financial statements of the reporting entity are organized into funds, cach of which is considered to be
separatc accounting entities. Each fund is accounted for by providing a separate set of self-balancing accounts that
constitute its assets, liabilities, fund equity, revenues, and expenditure/expenses. Funds are organized into three
major categories: governmental, proprictary, and fiduciary. An emphasis is placed on major funds within the
governmental and proprietary categories. Each major fund is presented in a single column on the governmenta! fund
financial statements.

1. GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS:

These are the funds through which most government functions are furnished. The funds of the financial
reporting entity are described below:

a. General Fund - Accounts for all furnished resources except those required to be accounted
for in other funds. The General Fund is the primary operating fund of the City and always
classified as a major fund.

b. Debt Service Fund - Used to account for accumulation of resources for, and payment of,
general long-term debt principal and interest and is classified as a major fund.



NOTE 1

CITY OF EASTON
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31. 2019

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd.)

1.

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS: (Cont'd.)

c. Special Revenue Funds - Used to account for proceeds of specific revenue sources (other
than special assessments or major capital projects) that are legally restricted to expenditures
for specified purposes. Individual funds comprise this generic group and are presented in the
non-major group.

d. Capital Reserve and Bond Funds - Used to account for the financial resources to be used for
acquisition, construction or improvement or major capital facilities and infrastructure.

PROPRIETARY FUND:

Accounts for operations that are financed and operated in a manner similar to private business
enterprises. These activities are financed primarily by user charges and the measurement of financial
activities focuses on net income.

Enterprise Funds - The City has leased all Water system facilities to the Easton Suburban Water
Authority. As a result of the leasing arrangement, the net assct value previously reported in a Water
Fund has been transferred to the Governmental Activities of the City.

Classified as an Enterprise Fund is the Sewage Treatment Plant Management Fund whereby the City of
Easton operates the sewage treatment plant and charges the operational costs to the Easton Area Joint
Sewer Authority.

Internal Service Funds - Internal Service Funds are used to account for operations that provide scrvices
to other departments of the government on a cost reimbursement basis. The City maintains a Health
Benefits Fund, Liability Insurance Fund and Unemployment Insurance Fund which receives fund
transfers from the General, Sewage Management and Recreation Funds for the costs of health, liability
and unemployment insurances.

FIDUCIARY FUNDS: (Not included in government-wide statements)

Accounts for assets held by a governmental unit in a trustee capacity or as an agent for other funds:

a. Private Purpose Trusts - Account for the revenues and the expenditures of the Hugh Moore
Park Charitable Trust.

b. Employee Pension Fund Trust Funds - Used to account for assets held by the City in a
trustee capacity for the future payment of retirement payments to employees.
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Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting

Measurement focus is a term used to describe “which™ transactions are recorded within the various financial
statements. Basis of accounting refers to “when™ transactions are recorded regardless of the measurement focus
applied.

On the government-wide Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities, both governmental and
business-type activities are presented using the economic resources measurement focus as defined in item b. below.

In the fund financial statements, the “current financial resources” measurement focus or the “cconomic resources”
measurement focus is used as appropriate:

a. All governmental funds utilize a “current financial resources” measurement focus. Only current
financial assets and liabilitics are generally included on their balance sheets. Their operating statements
present sources and uses of available spendable financial resources during a given period. These funds
use fund balance as their measure of available spendable financial resources at the end of the period.

b. The proprietary fund utilizes and “economic resources” measurement focus. The accounting objectives
of this measurement focus are the determination of operating income, changes in net position (or cost
recovery), financial position, and cash flows. All assets and liabilities (whether current or non-current)
associated with their activities are reported. Proprietary fund equity is classified as net position.

c. Agency funds are not involved in the measurement of results of operations; therefore, measurement
focus is not applicable to them.

In the government-wide Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities, both governmental and business-
type activities are presented using the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis of accounting, revenues
are recognized when earned and expenses are recorded when the liability is incurred or economic asset used.
Revenues, expenses, gains, losses, assets, and liabilities resulting from exchange and exchange-like transactions are
recognized when the exchange takes place.

In the Fund Financial Statements, Governmental Funds and Agency funds are presented on the modified accrual
basis of accounting. Under this modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when “measurable
and available.” Measurable means knowing or being able to reasonably estimate the amount. Available means
collectibie within the current period or within sixty days after year end. Expenditures (including capital outlay) arc
recorded when the related fund liability is incurred, except for general obligation bond principal and interest which
are reported when due.

37



NOTE 1

CITY OF EASTON
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd.)

Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting (Cont'd.)

All Proprietary Funds utilize the accrual basis of accounting except the Internal Service Funds, which utilize the
modified accrual basis. The Internal Service Funds manage the health, liability, and unemployment insurance costs
related to governmental-type funds have been included in the net assets of total Governmental-Type Funds. Under
the accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recorded when the liability
is incurred or economic asset used.

These Funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items. Operating revenues and
expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with the
Proprictary Fund's principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the City's Proprietary Fund are
sewage treatment charges. Operating expenses for the City's Proprietary Fund include sewage treatment costs,
supplies, and administrative costs. All revenues or expenses not meeting this definition are reported as non-
operating revenues and expenses.

Private-sector standards of accounting and financial reporting issued prior to December 1, 1989 are followed in
both the entity wide and Proprietary Fund financial statements to the extent that those standards do not conflict with
or contradict guidance of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. Governments also have the option of
following subsequent private-sector guidance for their business-type activities and proprietary funds, subject to this
same limitation. The City has elected not to follow subsequent private-sector guidance.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

To improve cash management, all cash received by the City is pooled under Act 72 of the Pennsylvania General
Assembly of 1971. Monies for all funds, including proprietary funds, are maintained in this pool. Individual fund
integrity is maintained throughout the City's records.

The City's cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits and short-term
investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition or available if required for
current operation or debt service.

Investments
Investments are reported at fair value, except for repurchase agreements and nonnegotiable certificates of deposit

which are reported at cost. Fair value is based on quoted market prices. Mutual funds are reported at current share
price. The fair value of the City's position in pooled investments is the same as the value of the pooled shares.
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Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting (Contd.)

Taxes, Other and Intergovernmental Receivables

Taxes Receivable -

General Fund -
Real Estate Taxes
Per Capita Taxes
Earned Income and Real Estate Transfer Taxes
Total Taxes Receivables

Other Receivables -

General Fund -
Utility Billings for Sewage and Refuse
Other Current Receivables - Local Sources
Capital Projects Funds -
Billings for Stormwater Runoff Charges
Rent from Tenants
Total Other Receivables

Intergovernmental Receivables -

General Fund -

City of Easton Parking Authority
Major Grant Funds -

Grants anticipated from the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania
Capital Project Funds -

Funds due from Hugh Moore Park Trust

Easton Suburban Water Authority

Total Intergovernmental Receivables

$ 818,265
704,774
1,889,336

$ 1.859917
1,273,637

281,225
2,605

$ 3,417,384

$ 153,010

860,049

127,985
8,100

$ 1,149,144
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PQLICIES (Cont'd.)

Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting (Cont'd.)

Property Taxes
Based upon assessed valuations by Northampton County, the City's real estate valuation for taxation purposes
was $357,227,230, the City's Department of Finance bills and collects the City's property taxes. The schedule for

property taxes levied for year ended December 31, 2019 is as follows:

The municipal tax rate for all purposes in 2019 was 24.950 Mills.

General Purposes 11.780
Debt Purposes 9.784
Recreational Purposes 3.386

Total Tax Rate 24.950 Mills
Prior to March 6 2% discount period
March 7 to May 6 Base payment period
After May 6 Penalty period

Reconciliation of assessed 2019 Real Estate Taxes:

Taxes Levied based upon adjusted assessment $ 8912819
Add: Penalties 51,661
Less:

Cash Collections and Discounts (8,579,028)
Uncollected Balance as of December 31, 2019 $ 385,452

Prepaid Items and Inventories

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded and prepaid
items in both government-wide and fund financial statements.

All inventories are valued at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out method) or market. The costs for inventories of
governmental activitics are recorded as expenditures at the time individual inventory items are purchased.
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Capital Assets

Capital Asscts, which include property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure assets, arc reported in the
applicable governmental or business-type activities column in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial
statements. Capital assets are defined by the "Property Accounting Ledger Report” provided by the City's
independent appraisal firm as assets which an initial, individual cost of more than $5,000 and an estimated useful
life in excess of onc year. Such assets are recorded at historical costs at time of purchase or construction. Major
outlays for capital asset and improvement projects arc capitalized as constructed, inclusive of ancillary costs.

The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend the
assets’ lives are not capitalized.

Land is not depreciated. Property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure of the City are depreciated using the
straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:

Major Building Structures 50 years
Pavilions 25 years
Traffic Signals 10 years

Site Improvements/Paving/Lighting 20 years
Swimming Pools 50 years
Road & Utility Equipment 10 - 15 years
Telephone System 10 years
Computers 5 years
Copiers/Printers 5 years
Vehicles - Trucks, Sedans, SUV 8 years

Compensated Absences

The City's policies regarding vacation and sick time permit certain employees to accumulate carned but unused
vacation and sick leave. The liability calculated by the City for these compensated absences which is recorded as a
non-current liability in the government-wide financial statements amount of $2,134,202 in the Governmental
Activities. A portion of compensated absences reported by the Business Activities of $130.105. In the Fund
Financial Statements, Governmental Funds would report only the compensated absence liability payable from
expendable available financial resources.

Long-Term Qbligations

In the Government-wide Financial Statements and Proprietary Fund Financial Statements, long-term debt and
other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities. Bond premiums and discounts are deferred and amortized
over the life of the bonds using the straight-line method.

In the Fund Financial Statements, Governmental Fund Types recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well as
bond issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing
sources. Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing uses. Issuance costs, whether or not
withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt service expenditures, except for refunds paid
from proceeds which are reported as other financing uses.
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Fund Balance Classifications

Fund Balance designations have been modified to comply with GASB 54. The new designations are as follows:

Non-Spendable - includes amounts that cannot be spent because they are not in spendable form or they are
legally or contractually required to be kept intact. The City's Non-Spendable fund balance consists of pre-paid
assets.

Restricted - includes amounts that are restricted for specific purposes by constitutional provisions, enabling
legislation, or externally imposed constraints. Restrictions are comprised of Liquid Fuel required uses from
the Commonwealth, grant restrictions and provisions of Capital Bond Issuance.

Committed - includes amounts that can only be used for specific purposes with constraints that are
established, and can only be removed, by formal action of City Council. All other Committed amounts are for
the designated purposes of those funds.

Assigned - includes amounts that are constrained by the City, without usec of Resolution or Ordinance.
Amounts can be Assigned by someone other than City Council and are intended for a specific purpose, such
as grant matching funds or funding for future benefits and insurance costs.
Unassigned - all other fund balances not in the other categories.
In the situation where both Unassigned, Assigned, Committed, or Restricted funds are available for use, it is the
City's policy to consider Restricted funds to have been used first, followed by Committed, Assigned, and finally

Unassigned funds.

Fund Balance Policy

The City has adopted a Fund Balance Policy that states "the annual city budget prepared and adopted shall
include a December 31 general fund balance that is a minimum of 10% of budgeted general fund revenues for that
budget year." The target percentage is 15 percent of budget revenues. In addition, the policy states:

a. The Health Care Fund should maintain a balance of at least $3,000,000 by the end of the 2019 fiscal year.
Given the dramatic, unforeseen impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, the City is planning to revisit this fund
balance policy and adjust it, as needed.

b. The Liability and Casualty Fund should maintain a balance of at least $1,000,000 by the end of the 2019 fiscal
year. Given the dramatic, unforeseen impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, the City is planning to revisit this
fund balance policy and adjust it, as needed.

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financial Statements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures, such as
estimates useful lives in determining depreciation expense, OPEB cost and contributions made, and earned income
tax rate variance revenue estimates; accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates.

Pensions

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the Pennsylvania
Municipal Retirement System (PMRS) and additions to/deductions from PMRS’s fiduciary net position have been
determined on the same basis as they are reported by PMRS. The City also maintains an Aggregated Pension Fund
which is a single-employer defined benefit plan and acts as a common investment and administrative agent for the
City's police, firemen, and non-uniformed defined pension plans. For this purpose, benefit payments (including
refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable, in accordance with the benefit terms
investments are reported at fair value. 42
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Other Postemployment Benefits

For purposes of measuring the net OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources
related to OPEB, and OPEB expense, information was obtained from the Actuary Report conducted by Conrad
Siegel. For this purpose, benefit payments are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit
terms. The single employer plan is not funded.

STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY

Budgetary Information

An annual budget is legally adopted prior to the beginning of each year for the General, Debt Service and
Recreation Funds on the modified cash basis of accounting. Additionally, the City adopts project-length financial
plans and budgets for all Capital Projects Funds, and provides Resolutions for individual State Grant programs as
they arise. The financial statements reflect the legally adopted General, Debt Service and Recreation Funds and docs
not present budgetary comparisons for Capital Project or State Grant Funds. The City Council and the
administration may make transfers of funds appropriated to any particular item of expenditure in accordance with
the Third Class City Code and the City's Home Rule Charter. The original budget of the General Fund has been
modified to reflect amendments through the year, and the classification of Fund Transfers to the Debt Service Fund
from the General Fund for pension debt obligations originally classified to various expenditure classifications of the
General Fund. Appropriations lapse at the end of the fiscal period. Budgetary information reflected in the financial
statements is presented at or below the level of budgetary control and include the effect of approved budget
amendments.

DEPOSITS WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND INVESTMENTS

Governmental and Business-Type Funds:

Cash Deposits with Financial Institutions

Cash deposits are with depositorics designated by the City and permitted by section 1804.1 of the Pennsylvania
Third Class City Code, as amended. The City's cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand
deposits, certificates of deposit, and pooled treasury money market funds,

Custodial Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the government's deposits may not be returned
to it. The City does not have a policy for custodial credit risk other than the provisions of City Code. At December
31, 2019, the bank balance of the City's deposits with financial institutions was $5,749,151 compared to the carrying
amount of $6,244,136. The difference is primarily caused by items in-transit and outstanding checks. $5,249,151 of
the City's deposits were exposed to custodial risk which includes uninsured bank balances that are collateralized
with securities held by the pledging financial institution or its trust department or agent, but not in the Citly's name,
but are required to be collateralized in accordance with ACT 72 of the Pennsylvania State legislature of 1971 which
requires the institution of pool collateral for all government deposits and have collateral held by an approved
custodian in the institution's name.
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DEPOSITS WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND INVESTMENTS (Cont'd.)

Governmental and Business-Type Funds; (Cont'd.)

Investments

In accordance to GASB Statement No. 72, investments gencrally are to be measured at fair value. An investment is
defined as a security or other asset that (a) a government holds primarily for the purpose of income or profit and (b)
has the present service capacity based solely on its ability to generate cash or to be sold to generate cash.
Investments not measured at fair value continue to include, for example, money market investments, 2a7-like
external investment pools, investments in life insurance contracts, common stock meeting the criteria for applying
the equity method, unallocated insurance contracts, and synthetic guaranteed investment contracts.

A government is permitted in certain circumstances to establish the fair value of an investment that does not have a
readily determinable fair value by using the net asset value per share of the investment.

This Statement requires measurement at acquisition value (an entry price) for donated capital assets, donated works
of art, historical treasures, and similar assets. These assets were previously required to be measured at fair value.
The City of Easton has no investments to report within the Governmental and Business-type Funds.

Fair Value is measured using a hierarchy of inputs using valuation techniques. The hicrarchy has three levels. Level
| inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than
quoted prices, that are observable for the asset of liability, either directly or indircctly. Level 3 inputs are
unobservable inputs.

The valuation techniques should be consistent with one or more of the following approaches: the market approach,
the cost approach, or the income approach. The market approach uses prices and other relevant information
generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable assets or liabilitics. The cost approach reflects
the amount that would be required to replace the present service capacity of an asset. The income approach converts
future amounts (such as cash flows or income and expenses) to a single current (discounted) amount.

Permitted investments for Third Class Cities are defined in Section 1804.1 of the Pennsylvania City Code as:
nH United States Treasury bills.
2) Short-term obligations of the Federal government or its agencics or instrumentalitics.

3) Deposits in savings accounts or time deposits, other than certificates of deposit, or share accounts of
institutions insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, the National Credit Union Share
Insurance Fund, the Pennsylvania Deposit Insurance Corporation or the Pennsylvania Savings
Association Insurance Corporation, or their successor agencies.

“4) Obligations of the United States of America or any of its agencies or instrumentalities backed by the full
faith and credit of the United States of America, of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania or any of its
agencies or instrumentalities backed by the full faith and credit of the Commonwealth or of any political
subdivision of the Commonweaith of Pennsylvania or any of its agencies or instrumentalities backed by
the full faith and credit of the political subdivision.

(5) Shares of an investment company registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940 (54 Stat. 789,
15 U.S8.C. § 80a-1 et seq.), whose shares are registered under the Securities Act of 1933 (48 Stat. 74, 15
U.S.C. § 77a et seq.). if the only investments of that company are in the authorized investments for city
funds listed in paragraphs (1) through (4).

6) Certificates of deposit purchased from institutions insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation, the National Credit Union Share Insurance Fund, the Pennsylvania Deposit Insurance
Corporation or the Pennsylvania Savings Association Insurance Corporation, or their successor
agencies. 44
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Fiduciary-Type Funds:

Investments

In accordance to GASB Statement No. 72, investments generaily are to be measured at fair value. An investment is
defined as a sccurity or other asset that (a) a government holds primarily for the purpose of income or profit and (b)
has the present service capacity based solely on its ability to generate cash or to be sold to generate cash.
Investments not measured at fair value continue to include, for example, money market investments, 2a7-like
external investment pools, investments in life insurance contracts, common stock mecting the criteria for applying
the equity method, unallocated insurance contracts, and synthetic guaranteed investment contracts.

A government is permitted in certain circumstances to establish the fair value of an investment that does not have a
readily determinable fair value by using the net asset value per share of the investment.

This Statement requires measurement at acquisition value (an entry price) for donated capital assets, donated works
of art, historical treasures, and similar assets. These assels were previously required to be measured at fair value.

Fair Value is measured using a hierarchy of inputs using valuation techniques. The hierarchy has three levels. Level
I inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than
quoted prices, that are observable for the asset of liability, either directly or indircctly. Level 3 inputs are
unobservable inputs.

The valuation techniques should be consistent with one or more of the following approaches: the market approach,
the cost approach, or the income approach. The market approach uses prices and other relevant information
generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable assets or liabilities. The cost approach reflects
the amount that would be required to replace the present service capacity of an asset. The income approach converts
future amounts (such as cash flows or income and expenses) to a single current (discounted) amount.

Private-Purpose Trust Fund -

Cost Fair Value

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Schwab Money Market - Cash Reserve Premium Account $ 102,630 $ 102,630
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents § 102,630 § 102,630

Mutual Funds:

Corporate Bonds $ 982372 $ 1,006,027
Corporate Stocks 948,828 1,453,553
Total Investments $ 1,931,200 $ 2,459,580

Permitted investments for municipal pension plans are defined in 20 Pa. C.S. Chapter 73:

I Obligations of the United States of America or any of its agencies or instrumentalitics, the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania or any of its agencies or instrumentalities or any political subdivision
of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania or any of its agencies or instrumentalities,

2. Bonds, notes or other obligations issued, assumed or guaranteed by the International Bank for
Reconstruction and Development which contain an unconditional promise to pay by the International
Bank for Reconstruction and Development, or an unconditional guarantee by the International Bank for
Reconstruction and Development of the payment of the interest thereon regularly, and the principal
thereof on or before a specified date, in lawful currency of the United States,

3. Deposits in savings accounts or time deposits of share accounts of institutions insured by F.D.I.C.,
4. Real estate in Pennsylvania, with court approval,

5. Mutual funds,

6. Corporate bonds, and

7. Stocks.
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Private-Purpose Trust Fund - (Cont'd)

Fair Value Measurement

The methodology of determining all investment fair values is Level 1, an input of unadjusted quoted prices for
identical assets liabilities in active markets that the pension fund has the ability to access. The preceding method
described may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net realizable value or reflective of
future values. Based upon fair values obtained from trust account records provided by Morgan Stanley and UBS, the
City believes its valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with the other market participants, the use of
different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could result in a
different fair value measurement at the reporting date.

Aggregated Pension Fund

Cash Deposits with Financial Institutions

Investments

A detailed listing of investments is provided in a separately issued Aggregated Pension Report available at the
City’s finance department office. Cash, cash equivalents, and investments by major category consist of the
following as of December 31, 2019:

Cash and Cash Equivalents:

State and Municipal Interest Checking Account
Morgan Stanley cash and money market funds

Morgan Stanley DROP Account
Total cash and cash equivalents

Investments presented at cost:

Common and Preferred Stock - Equities

Mutual Funds

Fixed income securities:

Government/Municipal Securities

Corporate Bonds
Total Investments

Investment Risk Factors

Cost

564,367
2,016,610

22,251
2,603,228

30,213,732
15,703,049

4,188,868

1,336,154
$ 51441803

Fair Value
$ 564,367
2,016,610
22,251
S 2603228

§ 33,869,662
17,953,019

4,142,056

1,347,792
$ 57312529

There are many factors that affect the value of investments. Equity securities are affected by economic
conditions, company earnings performance, and market liquidity. Fixed income securities are affected by such
factors as credit risk and changes in interest rates. Both types of securities may also be affected by custodial credit
risk, concentration of credit risk, and foreign currency risk.
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Aggregated Pension Funds (Contd.)

Cash Deposits with Financial Institutions (Contd.)
Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that a bond issuer will fail to pay interest or principal in a timely manner or that adverse
perceptions of the issuer’s ability to make such payments will cause the value of the bond to decline. Some factors
that may cause this are litigation, bankruptey, financial weakness and adverse political conditions. Credit quality is
evaluated and rated by independent bond rating agencies, such as Moody’s or Standard and Poor’s. The lower the
rating, the greater the chance of failure to make bond payments. However, a lower rating is usually offset by a
higher yield to compensate for the additional risk.

Some fixed income securities, including obligations of the U.S. government and those explicitly guaranteed by
the U.S. government, arc not considered to have credit risk. The Fiduciary Funds holdings of corporate bonds are
rated between BBB- and AAA by Standards and Poor’s; Mutual Funds are not rated. The Fiduciary Funds has no
policy in regard to credit risk.

Custodial Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a failure, the Aggregated Pension Fund's deposits may not be
returned to it. The Aggregated Pension Fund does not have a policy for custodial risk. At December 31, 2019 the
bank balance of the Plan's deposits with financial institutions including cash equivalents was $2,491,392 compared
with a carrying value of $2,603,228. The difference is primarily caused by items in-transit and outstanding checks
at year-end. The Aggregated Pension Fund's deposits of $2,241,392 were exposed to custodial risk which includes
uninsured bank balances that are collateralized with securities held by the pledging financial institution or its trust
department or agent, but not in the Aggregated Pension Fund's name.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss associated with lack of diversification. Securitics issued or
explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. government, mutual funds, external investment pools, or other pooled investments
are excluded from this review. The Fiduciary Funds do not hold any cquities or non-U.S. government fixed income
securities that comprise more the five percent of total investments. The Fiduciary Funds have no policy regarding
concentration of credit risk.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of fixed income securities will decline due to rising interest rates.
Fixed-income securities with a Jonger term to maturity tend to be more sensitive to changes in interest rates and,
therefore, more volatile than those with shorter maturities. The Fiduciary Funds do not have a formal policy in
regard to interest rate risk. The Fiduciary Funds have contracted with UBS and Schwab to mitigate this risk while
providing enough cash to fulfill pension cash requirements.

Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates could adverscly affect deposits on an
investment’s fair value, The Aggregated Pension Fund has foreign currency risk through its investment in various
bonds and stocks and by its holdings of international mutual funds. The Aggregated Pension Fund has no policy
regarding exposure to foreign currency risk.
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DEFERRED OUTFLOW AND INFLOW OF RESOQURCES

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred
outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a
consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of
resources (expense/expenditure) until then. The City has four items that qualify for reporting in this category.
One is the deferred charge on refunding reported in the government-wide statement of net position. A deferred
charge in refunding results from the difference in the carrying value of refunded debt and its reacquisition price,
including associated premiums required to fund escrow requirements. This amount is deferred and amortized
over the shorter of the life of the refunded or refunding debt. This amount for the City is $243,335. The other
items are the current year contribution to the PMRS pension plan and the OPEB plan for December 31, 2019 in
the total amount of $799,751 and differences between projected and actual earnings and differences between
expected and actual experience for pensions combined amount of $11,739,282 and changes in pension and
OPEB assumptions of $407,096.

In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for
deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources,
represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an
inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. The City has two types of items, one which arises only under a
modified accrual basis of accounting, that qualifies for reporting in this category. Accordingly, the item,
unavailable revenue, is reported only in the governmental funds balance sheet. The governmental funds report
unavailable revenues from three sources: property taxes, utility billings and storm water run-off charges. This
amount of $2,204,494 is deferred and recognized as an inflow of resources in the period that the amount
becomes available. The other items are reported on the government-wide Statement of Net Position representing
the difference between expected and actual experience, actual earnings and assumptions in the pension and
OPEB plans in the total amount of $9,910,730.
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CITY OF EASTON

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31. 2019

NOTE S CAPITAL ASSETS

Governmental Activities Beginning Balance

Capital Assets Not Depreciated:
Land, Easements, Rights of Way $ 13,830,996

Capital Assets Depreciated:

Land Improvements 1,447,428
Buildings & Improvements 44,049,633
Vehicles & Equipment 10,811,841
Infrastructure 3,138,182
Leased Water Plant Assets 20,590,352

Total Depreciated Capital Assets $ 80,037,436

$ 93868432

Less: Accumulated Depreciation:

Land Improvements $ 913,020
Buildings & Improvements 6,301,709
Vehicles & Equipment 7,526,923
Infrastructure 1,370,180
Leased Water Plant Assets 15,139,674

Total Accumulated Depreciation 31,251,506
Total Net Capital Assets $ 62,616,926

Additions

301,431
1,104,677

$ 1406108
$ 1406108

$ 11,265
943,452
495,594
167,546
411,807

2,029,664

5 (623556)

Ending Balance

$

20,590,352
81,443,544
$ 95274540

15,551,481
33,281,170

13,830,996

1,447,428
44,351,064
11,916,518

3,138,182

924,285
7,245,161
8,022,517
1,537,726

61,993,370

Depreciation expense was allocated to expenditure classifications of the City of Easton as follows:

Governmental Activities:
General
Public Safety
Sanitation Activities
Highways & Roads
Other Public Services
Recreation

Total Depreciation Expense -
Governmental Activities

$ 872,756
629,196
77,660

162,375
75,957
211,720

5 2029664
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DECEMBER 31, 2019

NOTES 6 INTERNAL RECEIVABLES. PAYABLES AND TRANSFERS

Governmental
Due From Due To

General Fund $ 1,207,604 $ 293,104
Debt Service Fund - 224,829
Liquid Fuels Fund - 75,510
Capital Projects Fund 536,435 728,486
Major Grant Funds - 583,096
Other Governmental Funds 71,006 29,253
Proprictary

Sewer Fund - 196,645
Internal Service Funds 336,625 20,747
Total $ 2,151.670 $ 2,151,670

Activity between Funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at the end of the
fiscal year are referred to as either “duc to/from Other Funds (i.c., the current portion of interfund loans) or
“advances to/from Other Funds (i.c., the non-current portion of interfund loans). Any residual balances
outstanding between the Governmental Activities and Business-type Activities are reported in the Government-
wide Financial Statements as “internal balances”.

Transfers In Transfers (Out)
General Fund $ - $ (1,809,970)
Debt Service Fund 2,058,747 -
Capital Projects Funds 307,375 (259,511
Major Grant Funds - (47,864)
Other Governmental Funds - (83,943)

Sewer Fund - (164,834)
Internal Service Funds -

$ 2,366,122 $ (2,366,122)



CITY OF EASTON
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DECEMBER 31. 2019

NOTE7 GENERAL LONG-TERM DEBT

The following is a summary of changes in Debt Obligations for the year ended December 3 1, 2019.

Governmental Activities:

Balance Balance Amounts Due
December 31 December 31 within One
Type of Debt 2018 Increase (Decrease) 2019 Year
Pension Debt Obligations $ 16,371,000 $ - $ (930,000) $ 15,441,000 $ 999,000
Capital Debt Obligations 43,344,815 6,750,000 (10,541,255) 39,553,560 1,727,170
Capitalized Lease Debt 1,856,844 1,104,677 (997.831) 1,963,690 984,612
Post-Employment Benefits 12,406,103 - (1,741,475) 10,664,628 Not Est.
Compensated Absences 2,134,202 - - 2,134,202 Not Est.
Net Pension Liability 35,688,235 - (462,504) 35,225,731 Not Est.
Total $§ 111,801,199 § 7,854,677 $ (14,673,065) $ 104,982,811 $ 3,710,782
Business-Type Activities:
Balance Balance Amounts Due
December 31 December 31, within One
Type of Debt 2018 Increase (Decrease) 2019 Year
Compensated Absences $ 130,105 § - $ - $ 130,105 $ -




CITY OF EASTON
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019

NOTE7 GENERAL LONG-TERM DEBT (Cont'd.)

Pension Debt Obligations:

Federally Taxable General Obligation Bonds, Series of 2007, maturing through December 1, 2025, bearing interest
ranging from 6.73% to 7.17%, interest and principal payabie semi-annually June 1 and December 1.

Federally Taxable General Obligation Bonds, Series A of 2015, maturing through December I, 2029 bearing
interest ranging from 1.170% to 4.050%, interest and principal payable semi-annually June 1 and December 1.

Capital Debt Obligations

General Obligation Bonds, Series A of 2017, maturing through 2031, bearing interest ranging from 2.00% to
3.100%, principal and interest is payable semi-annually on May 15 and November 135.

General Obligation Bonds, Series B of 2017, maturing through 2037, bearing interest ranging from 1.729% to
4.485%, principal and interest is payable semi-annually on May 15 and November 15.

Federally Taxable General Obligation Note, Series A of 2019, Manufacturer's and Trader's Trust Company,
maturing through December 15, 2021, bearing interest at a fixed rate of 2.85%, interest payable semi-annually June
15 and December 135, prinicpal payable in entirety on December 15, 2021.

General Obligation Note of 2014, maturing through 2023, bearing interest of 3.65%, interest and principal payable
June 15 and December 15.

General Obligation Bond, Series of 2013, maturing through December 31, 2027, bearing interest ranging from
2.00% to 4.05%, payable semi-annually on May 15 and November 15.

Federally Taxable, General Obligation Bond, Series B of 2015, maturing through December 1, 2024, bearing
interest ranging from 1.170% to 3.450%, interest and principal payable semi-annually June 1 and December 1.

General Obligation Bonds, Series C of 2015, maturing through December 1, 2029, bearing interest ranging from
2.00% to 3.00%, interest and principal payable semi-annually June | and December 1.

Other Financing Obligations
Master Lease Purchase Agreement, 2009, First Columbia Bank, 180 monthly payments, final maturity year 2022.

Guaranteed Lease Revenue Note of 2014, Easton Municipal Authority, Quakertown National Bank, maturing
through year 2020 bearing interest of 2.20%, interest and principal payable semi-annually February 15 and August

Master Lease Purchase Agrecement, Fulton Bank, National Association, dated September 2, 2015, semi-annual
payments of $36,750 on March 5 and September 5, maturing through the year 2020, bearing interest of 2.47%.

Lease Purchase Agreements with Fulton Bank, National Association, dated October 10, 2018, semi-annually April
and October, maturing through 2023 bearing interest of 4.190%.

Lease Purchase Agreement with TD Equipment Finance, dated May 30, 2019, annual payments of $64,323 on May
30, maturing through the year 2023, bearing interest of 3.100%

Lease Purchase Agreements with Fulion Bank, National Association, dated May 8, 2019, semi-annually May and
November, maturing through the year 2023, bearing interest of 3.310%

Lease Purchase Agreements with Fulton Bank, National Association, dated July 12, 2019, semi-annually January
and July, maturing through the year 2024, bearing interest of 2.910%

Lease Purchase Agreement with F.N.B. Equipment Finance, dated Jjuly 31, 2018, annual payments of $106,207 on
March 15, maturing through the year 2023.

Governmental Lease Purchase Agreement, dated September 21, 2017, quarterly payments of $9,164, maturing
through 2022, bearing interest of 3.19%.

Total

$ 7,136,000

8,305,000

11,145,000

1,425,000

6,750,000

298,560

15,920,000

445,000

3,570,000

264,265

566,000

36,303

110,250

238,524

160,528

102,880

388,798

96,142

$56,958,250
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CITY OF EASTON
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31,2019

GENERAL LONG-TERM DEBT (Cont'd.)

Annual requirements for combined principal and interest costs for Pension, Capital, and Other Financing

Obligations are as follows:

Total
Year Ended Principal Interest Debt Service
2020 $ 3,710,782 $ 2,086,598 $ 5,797,380
2021 10,564,392 1,944,525 12,508,917
2022 3,890,955 1,599,023 5,489,978
2023 3,957,015 1,439,692 5,396,707
2024 3,891,106 1,262,892 5,153,998
2025 4,059,000 1,083,499 5,142,499
2026 4,275,000 868,356 5,143,356
2027 4,400,000 744,168 5,144,168
2028 4,515,000 628,928 5,143,928
2029 4,690,000 454,176 5,144,176
2030 4,860,000 284,263 5,144,263
2031 3,555,000 137,453 3,692,453
2032 90,000 26,261 116,261
2033 90,000 22,425 112,425
2034 95,000 18,388 113,388
2035 100,000 14,128 114,128
2036 105,000 9,643 114,643
2037 110,000 4,933 114,933
Totals $56,958,250 $12,629,351 $ 69,587,601

Debt service payments of principal and interest are recorded within the Debt Service Fund.

The Sources of Revenues to fund the debt service payments are as follows:

Allocation of Real Estate Taxes $ 3,443,556

Fund Allocations - in addition to the above allocation of real estate taxes as provided in the tax millage ordinance;
the funding for debt service costs associated with Pension Debt Obligations is also in the form of transfers which

are apportioned to cost categories within the General Fund, Recreation Fund and Sewage Treatment Fund as

General Fund Allocations:

General 1,809,970
Recreation Fund Allocation 83,943
Sewage Treatment Fund Allocation 164,834
Capital Project Funds 2,551,324
Liquid Fuels Funds 100,979

Total Funds Allocations 4,711,050
Local Source Contribution 68,081
Total Sources of Revenues $ 8,222,687
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NOTE 9

CITY OF EASTON
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31. 2019

RISK MANAGEMENT

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to and destruction of assets; errors
and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. Significant losses are covered by commercial insurance
for all major programs including stop-loss insurance. For insured programs, management believes such coverage is
sufficient to preclude any significant uninsured losses to the City. Any matcrial losses that would not be covered by
insurance would be presented in Note 15.

The City of Easton has been granted an exemption from insuring its workers® compensation and occupational
disease liability under the provisions of the Pennsylvania Workers® Compensation Act by the Department of Labor
and Industry, Bureau of Workers” Compensation, Self-Insurance Fund created May 1, 1993, must be in existence to
provide a source of funds sufficient to pay the benefits incurred under the act. The funding level as cstablished by
the Administrator and the City of Easton was $432,534. The City did contribute this amount and additional amounts
to the Trust during the 2019 year.

DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN

The City of Easton offers its’ employees a deferred compensation plan created in accordance with Internal
Revenue Code section 457(B). The Plan permits participants to defer a portion of their salary until future years.
Empower Retirement and Valic arc the managers of the plans and have reported the value of the Deferred
Compensation Plan to be $1,959,206 and $6,051,816, respectively as of December 31, 2019,



CITY OF EASTON
NOTES TQ FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31,2019

NOTE 10 PENSION PLANS
Aggregate Pension Fund

The Aggregate Pension Fund is comprised of the Non-Uniformed, Police, and Firemen's Retirement Funds.
The Aggregate Pension Fund is funded by contributions from the City, participating employees, the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, and carnings from the Funds' investments.

In addition to Act 205, the City of Easton Aggregate Pension Trust Fund is also governed by implementing
regulations adopted by the Public Employee Retirement Commission published at Title 16, Part IV of the
Pennsylvania Code and applicable provisions of various other state statutes including, but not limited to, the
following;:

Act 147 - Special Ad Hoc Municipal Police and Firefighter Postretirement Adjustment Act, Act of
1988, (P.L. 1192, No. 147), as amended, 53 P.S. Section 896.101, et seq.

Act 399 - Optional Third Class City Charter Law, Act of July 15, 1957, (P.L. 901, No. 399), as
amended, 53 P.S. Section 41101, et seq.

The Aggregate Pension Fund acts as a common investment and administrative agent for the City's police,
firemen, and non-uniform defined benefit pension plans. The police pension plan is governed by Article 147
of the City's codified ordinances. The firemen's pension is governed by Article 149 of the City's codified
ordinances. The officers’ and employces' pension is governed by Article 143 of the City's codified ordinances.
The plans are also affected by the provisions of collective bargaining agreements between the City and its'
police officers, firefighters, and non-uniformed employees.

Municipal officials who are charged with administering municipal pension plans are recommended to utilize
the handbook "Municipal Pension Plans" as prepared by the Bureau of Municipal Pension and Fire Relief
Audits. The handbook does not encompass all aspects of plan management, but outlines pertinent information
concerning responsibilities of all municipal officials. The City of Easton has delegated the Authority to UBS
Financial Services to hold the Aggregated Pension Fund assets in trust; various financial advisor's manage the
investment of assets in accordance with individual investment policies established by the Aggregated pension
Board of Trustees.

City of Easton Officers and Employces Pension Plan

General Description - The City of Easton Officers' and Employees' Pension Plan is a single employer defined
benefit plan controlled by the provisions of Pennsylvania Act 205 and Plan ordinances.

In accordance with Act 203, the City of Easton has been authorized by the State Retirement Commission to
participate as a level two moderate distressed level community. The participation at this level requires the City,
among other things, to aggregate the assets of all the pension funds administered by the City into a single
pension trust fund.

Plan Membership at December 31. 2019

Inactive Members or Beneficiaries Currently Receiving Benefits 54
Inactive Members Entitled to but not yet Receiving Benefits 0
Active Members 1

Total Members 55



CITY OF EASTON
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NOTE 10 PENSION PLANS (Cont'd)
Aggregate Pension Fund (cont'd)

City of Easton Officers and Employees Pension Plan (cont'd)

Benefits Provided
Eligibility

All full-time officers and employees who were employed prior to December 31, 1978, and who are not
members of the police force or fire department join the Plan upon employment.

Normal Retirement

A member is cligible for normal retirement after attainment of age 55 and completion of 20 years of service.
The normal retirement pension is payable monthly during the member's lifetime with payments continuing after
the member’s death to the surviving spouse equal to 50% of the initial amount payable to the member,

The amount of monthly pension is equal to 50% of average monthly compensation, plus an incremental pension
equal to 1.25% of average monthly compensation for each complete year of service in excess of 20 years.
Average monthly compensation is based upon the final annualized basic compensation rate, including longevity
payments, or the average monthly compensation, including longevity payments, received during the last five
years of employment, if higher,

Late Retirement

If @ member continues working after his normal retirement date, his pension does not start until he actually
retires. The late retirement benefit is the benefit accrued to the late retirement date.

Disability Retirement

If a member who has completed 12 or more years of service is disabled, he is cligible for a disability pension.
The disability pension is equal to the benefit accrued to the date of disability.

Death Benefits

If a member with 12 or more years of service dies, a death benefit is payable to his spouse. The benefit is equal
to 50% of the members pension he was or would have received at the date of death prorated for less than 20
years.

YVesting

A member's benefits vest upon the completion of 12 years of service. The vested benefit is a deferred pension
beginning at normal retirement equal to the benefit accrued to the date of termination.

Accrued Pension
The benefit accrued at any date other than the normal retirement date is equal to the projected normal retirement

benefit, multiplied by the ratio of the number of years of service to date to the total number of years of service
projected at normal retirement.
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NOTE 10 PENSION PLANS (Cont'd)
Aggregate Pension Fund (cont'd)
City of Easton Officers and Employees Pension Plan (cont'd)
Contributions

Members contribute 6.5% of pay.

There is no interest on contributions.
Investment Policy

The plan's policy in regard to the allocation of invested assets is established and may be amended by the
Aggregated Pension Board. It is the policy of the Aggregate Pension Board to pursue an investment strategy to
obtain a reasonable diversification of investments, which have a ready market for resale. The following was the
Board's adopted asset allocation policy as of December 31, 2019:

Asset Class Target Allocation

Domestic Equity 45.50%

International Equity 9.00%

Fixed Income 40.50%

Real Estate 5.00%
Concentrations

Concentrations are defined as investments held by the Officers and Employees Pension Plan, other than those
issued or explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. Government, in any one organization that represent 5% or more of
the plan's fiduciary net position. At December 31, 2019, the Officers and Employees Pension Plan does not hold
any cquities or non-governmental fixed income securities that comprise more than five percent of total
investments.

Rate of Return

For the year ended December 31, 2019, the annual money-weighted rate of return on pension plan investments,
net of pension plan investment expense, was 13.48% with UBS and 19.07% with Morgan Stanley. The money-
weighted rate of return expresses investment performance, net of investment expense, adjusted for the changing
amounts actually invested.

Net Pension Liability

The net pension liability was measured as of December 31, 2019, and the total pension liability was determined
by rolling forward the liabilities from an actuarial valvation as of January I, 2018. No significant events or
changes in assumptions occurred between the valuation date and the fiscal year end. The components of the net
pension liability of the Officers and Employees Pension Plan at December 31, 2019 were as follows:

Total Pension Liability $ 8,343,460
Plan Fiduciary Net Position 5,067,529
Net Pension Liability $§ 3,275,931

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage of Total Pension Liability - 60.74%

57



CITY OF EASTON
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019

NOTE 10 PENSION PLANS (Cont'd)
Aggregate Pension Fund (cont'd)
City of Easton Officers and Employees Pension Plan (cont'd)

Changes in the Net Pension Liability
Increase (Decrease)

Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension
Liability Net Position Liability
(@) (b) (a) - (b)
Balances at 12/31/2018 § 8,386,002 $ 4,672,664 $ 3,713,338
Service Cost 7,308 - 7,308
Interest Cost 575,521 - 575,321
Changes of Benefit Terms - - -
Changes for Experience (227,607) - (227,607)
Changes of Assumptions 509,807 - 509,807
Contributions - employer - 436,867 (436,867)
Contributions - member - 5,017 (5,017)
Net Investment Income - 868,839 (868,839)
Benefit Payments, including -
refunds of member contributions (907,571) (907,571) -
Administration Expense - (8,287) 8,287
Other Changes - - -
Net Changes (42,542) 394,865 (437,407)
Balances at 12/31/2019 8,343,460 5,067,529 3,275,931

Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liability in the January 1, 2019 actuarial valuation was determined using the following
economic assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Inflation 3.00%

Salary Increases 5.00% (average, including inflation)
Investment Rate of Return 7.00% (including inflation)
Postretirement Cost of Living Increase 0.00%

Mortality rates were based on the Pub G-2010 mortality table, including rates for disabled retirces and
contingent survivors. Incorporated into the table are rates projected gencrationally using Scale MP-2018 to
reflect mortality improvement.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block
method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of inflation)
are developed for cach major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of
return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by
adding expected inflation. The target allocation estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for cach major asset
class are summarized in the following table:

Target Long-Term Expected

Assct Class Allocation Real Rate of Return
Domestic Equity 45.50% 5.50% - 7.50%
International Equity 9.00% 4.50% - 6.50%
Fixed Income 40.50% 1.00% - 3.00%
Real Estate 5.00% 4.50% - 6.50%
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NOTE 10 PENSION PLANS (Cont'd)
Aggregate Pension Fund (cont'd)
City of Easton Officers and Employces Pension Plan (cont’d)
Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.00%. The pension plan's fiduciary net position is
projecied to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive employees.
Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected
benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. The employer has always met the funding requirements of
Pennsylvania law Act 205 of 1984. Act 205 requires full funding of entry age normal cost plus plan expenses, as
well as amortization of the unfunded liability.

Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate
The following presents the net pension liability of the Plan, calculated using the discount rate of 7.00%, as well as

what the Plan's net pension liability would be if it were caiculated using a discount rate that is I-percentage-point
lower or 1-percentage-point higher than the current rate:

Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(6.00%) (7.00%) (8.00%)
Plan's Net Pension Liability $3,873,169 $3,275,931 $2,750,946

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions

For the year ended December 31, 2019, the City recognized pension expense of $608,327. At December 31, 2019,
the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the
following sources:

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
of Resources of Resources
Difference between expected and actual experience $ - 5 -
Changes of assumptions - -
Net difference between projected and actual earnings
on pension plan investments 426,934 (587,759
Total ) 426,934 $ (587,759)

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be
recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year ended December 31:

2020 :) (46,529)
2021 (33,273)
2022 30,643

2023 (111,666)
s (160825

59



CITY OF EASTON
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019

NOTE 10 PENSION PLANS (Cont'd)

Aggregate Pension Fund (cont'd)
City of Easton Firemen Pension Plan

General Description - The City of Easton Firemens' Pension Plan is a single employer defined benefit plan
controlled by the provisions of Pennsylvania Act 205 and Plan ordinances.

In accordance with Act 2035, the City of Easton has been authorized by the State Retirement Commission to
participate as a level two moderate distressed level community. The participation at this level requires the City,
among other things, to aggregate the assets of all the pension funds administered by the City into a single
pension trust fund.

Plan Membership at December 31. 2019

Inactive Members or Beneficiaries Currently Receiving Benefits 45
Inactive Members Entitled to but not yet Receiving Benefits 0
Active Members 46

Total Members 91

Benefits Provided

Eligibility

All fuli-time members of the fire department join the Plan upon employment.

Normal Retirement

A participant is eligible for normal retirement after attainment of age 50 and completion of 20 years of service.
The normal retirement pension is payable monthly during the participant's lifetime, with payments continuing
after the participant's death to the surviving spouse or to dependent children under the age of 18 equal to 100%
of the amount payable to the participant at the time of the participant's death.

For members hired before January 1, 2013, the amount of monthly pension is equal to 50% of average monthly
compensation plus 2.5% of average monthly compensation per year of service in excess of 20 years of service
(Maximum 75% of compensation) plus an incremental pension of 1.25% times average monthly compensation

for each full year of service (before age 65) in excess of 20 ycars, up to an additional $100 per month.

For members hired after January 1, 2013, the monthly pension is cqual to 50% of average monthly
compensation.

Average monthly compensation (compensation includes longevity pay, degree pay, extra duty pay, and birthday
pay) is based upon the highest year within the last five years of employment, or the final rate of pay (base pay
plus longevity), whichever is greater.

Late Retirement

If a participant continues working after his normal retirement date, his pension does not start until he actually
retires. The late retirement benefit is the benefit accrued to the late retirement date.

Disability Retirement

If a participant is disabled in the line of duty, regardless of service, he is eligible for a disability pension. The
disabled participant shall receive full benefits provided by the Plan.
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NOTE 10 PENSION PLANS (Cont'd)
Aggregate Pension Fund (cont'd)
City of Easton Firemen Pension Plan (cont'd)
Death Benefits

If a member who has worked more than 20 years of service dies or is killed in service, a death benefit is
payable to a surviving spouse or children under age 18 in an amount equal to the 100% of the monthly pension
had the participant been eligibie to retire at the time of death.

If a member with at least 12 but less than 20 years of service dies who is not subject to the above death benefit,
a death benefit is payable equal to 25% of compensation.

Vesting

Effective January 1, 2009, a participant's benefits vest upon completion of 12 years of service. The vested
benefit is a deferred pension cqual to the benefit accrued to the date of termination. A participant must continue
contributing to the Plan until they would have reached age 50.

Accrued Pension

The benefit accrued at any date other than the normal retirement date is equal to the projected normal
retirement benefit multiplied by the ratio of the number of years and days of service to date to the total number
of years and days of service projected at normal retirement.

Contributions

If an actuarial study shows the Plan to have sufficient assets to fund plan benefits, member contributions may
be suspended.

Members contribute 6.5% of pay. Members hired after January 1, 2013, contribute 6.5%, until the fund
becomes Level One distress or less using 2011 actuarial assumptions, at which point they contribute 5.0% of

pay.
Members contributions are not credited with interest.

Any and all monics in a participant's voluntary contribution and interest accounts were distributed out of the
Plan on or before December 31, 2005.

Deferred Retirement Option Program (DROP)

Effective April 2, 2007, an active member who has met the cligibility for normal retirement may elect to
participant in the deferred retirement option program for a period of not less than onc year or more than three
years. His monthly pension shall be calculated as of his date of participation in the program and shall be
accumulated with fund carnings and distributed in a lump sum at retirement. During 2019 the Aggregated
Pension Trust Fund transferred $65,754 to Morgan Stanley for one participant in accordance with a DROP
Arrangement. There was $374,397 of DROP distributions made in 2019. The DROP account balance at
December 31, 2019 was $200,034.
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NOTE 10 PENSION PLANS (Cont'd)
Aggregate Pension Fund (cont'd)
City of Easton Firemen Pension Plan (cont'd)
Investment Policy
The plan's policy in regard to the allocation of invested assets is established and may be amended by the
Aggregated Pension Board. It is the policy of the Aggregate Pension Board to pursue an investment strategy to

obtain a reasonable diversification of investments, which have a ready market for resale. The following was the
Board's adopted asset allocation policy as of December 31, 2019:

Asset Class Target Allocation

Domestic Equity 45.50%

International Equity 9.00%

Fixed Income 40.50%

Real Estate 5.00%
Concentrations

Concentrations are defined as investments held by the Firemen's Pension Plan, other than those issued or
explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. Government, in any one organization that represent 5% or more of the plan's
fiduciary net position. At December 31, 2019, the Firemens' Pension Plan does not hold any equitics or non-
governmental fixed income securities that comprise more than five percent of total investments.

Rate of Return

For the year ended December 31, 2019, the annual money-weighted rate of return on pension plan investments,
net of pension plan investment expense, was 13.48% with UBS and 19.07% with Morgan Stanley. The money-
weighted rate of return expresses investment performance, net of investment expense, adjusted for the changing
amounts actually invested.

Net Pension Liability

The net pension liability was measured as of December 31, 2019, and the total pension liability was determined
by rolling forward the liabilities from an actuarial valuation as of January 1, 2018. No significant events or
changes in assumptions occurred between the valuation date and the fiscal year end. The components of the net
pension liability of the Firemens' Pension Plan at December 31, 2019 were as follows:

Total Pension Liability $ 36,337,863
Plan Fiduciary Net Position 26,946,090
Net Pension Liability $ 9,391,773

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage of Total Pension Liability 74.15%
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Aggregate Pension Fund (cont'd)

DECEMBER 31, 2019

City of Easton Firemen Pension Plan (cont'd)

Changes in the Net Pension Liability

Balances at 12/31/2018
Service Cost
Interest Cost
Changes of Benefit Terms
Changes for Experience
Changes of Assumptions
Contributions - employer
Contributions - member
Net Investment Income
Benefit Payments, including

refunds of member contributions
Administration Expensc
Other Changes

Net Changes

Balances at 12/31/2019

Actuarial Assumptions

Increase (Decrease)

Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension
Liability Net Position Liability
(a) (b) (@)-()
$ 33,573,554 $§ 22,487,695 $ 11,085,859
628,589 - 628,589
2,455,853 - 2,455,853
132,527 - 132,527
1,412,209 - 1,412,209
- 1,463,642 (1,463,642)
- 242,652 (242,652)
- 4,625,507 (4,625,507)
(1,864,869) (1,864,869) -
- (8,537) 8,537
2,764,309 4,458,395 (1,694,086)
36,337,863 26,946,090 9,391,773

The total pension liability in the January 1, 2019 actuarial valuation was determined using the following
cconomic assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Inflation
Salary Increases
Investment Rate of Return

Postretirement Cost of Living Increase

3.00%
5.00%
7.00%
0.00%

(average, including inflation)
(including inflation)

Mortality rates were based on the IRS 2017 Static Combined Table for Small Plans. Incorporated into the
table are rates for annuitants projected 7 years and rates for non-annuitants projected 15 years using Scale

AA to reflect mortality improvement.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block
method in which best-estimate ranges of cxpected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of
inflation) are developed for cach major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term
expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation
percentage and by adding expected inflation. The target allocation estimates of arithmetic real rates of return
for each major asset class are summarized in the following table:

Asset Class
Domestic Equity

International Equity
Fixed Income

Real Estate

Target
Allocation
45.50%

9.00%
40.50%

5.00%

Long-Term Expected
Real Rate of Return

5.50% - 7.50%
4.50% - 6.50%
1.00% - 3.00%

4.50% - 6.50%
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NOTE 10 PENSION PLANS (Cont'd)
Aggregate Pension Fund (cont'd)
City of Easton Firemen Pension Plan (cont'd)
Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.00%. The pension plan's fiduciary net position is
projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive employees.
Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected
benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. The employer has always met the funding requirements of
Pennsylvania law Act 205 of 1984. Act 205 requires full funding of entry age normal cost plus plan expenses, as
well as amortization of the unfunded liability.

Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate
The following presents the net pension liability of the Plan, calculated using the discount rate of 7.00%, as well as

what the Plan's net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point
lower or [-percentage-point higher than the current rate:

Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(6.00%) (7.00%) (8.00%)
Plan's Net Pension Liability $ 13,691,367 $  9391,773 $ 5,801,034

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions

For the year ended December 31, 2019, the City recognized pension expense of $1,795,161. At December 31, 2019,
the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the
following sources:

Deferred OQutflows Deferred Inflows
of Resources of Resources
Difference between expected and actual experience S 106,022 $ (129,990)
Changes of assumptions 1,859,683 -

Net difference between projected and actual earnings
on pension plan investments 2,032,552 (3,141,661)

Total $ 3,998,257 $(3,271,651)

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be
recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year ended December 31:

2020 \) 278,761
2021 375,022
2022 375,319
2023 (302,496)
3 726,606
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NOTE 10 PENSION PLANS (Cont'd)
Aggregate Pension Fund (cont'd)
City of Easton Police Pension Plan

General Description - The City of Easton Police Pension Plan is a single employer defined benefit plan
controlled by the provisions of Pennsylvania Act 205 and Plan ordinances.

In accordance with Act 205, the City of Easton has been authorized by the State Retirement Commission to
participate as a level two moderate distressed level community. The participation at this level requires the
City, among other things, to aggregate the assets of all the pension funds administered by the City into a single
pension trust fund.

Plan Membership at December 31, 2019

Inactive Members or Beneficiaries Currently Receiving Benefits 78
Inactive Membecrs Entitled to but not yet Receiving Benefits 0
Active Members 60

Total Members 138

Benefits Provided

Eligibility

All full-time members of the Bureau of Police join the Plan upon employment.
Normal Retirement

A participant is cligible for normal retirement after attainment of 20 years of service. A participant will be
automatically retired upon attainment of age 70.

The normal retirement pension is payable monthly during the participant's lifetime, with payments continuing
after the participant's death to the surviving spouse or to dependent children under the age of 18 equal to 100%
of the amount payable to the participant at the time of the participant's death.

The amount of monthly pension is equal to 50% of average monthly compensation plus an incremental pension
of 2.5% times average monthly compensation for cach full year of service in excess of 20 years, up to a
maximum of 75% of average monthly compensation after 30 years of service.

Average monthly pay is based upon the final rate of pay (1/12th of annual salary plus degree pay, longevity
pay, personal day buyback, holiday pay, scheduled shift differential, and acting rank pay for regularly
scheduled shifls).

Late Retirement

If a participant continues working after his normal retirement date, his pension does not start until he actually
retires. The late retirement benefit is the benefit accrued to the late retirement date.

Disability Retirement

If a participant who has 15 years of service is disabled, he is eligible for a disability pension. The disability
pension is equal to the normal retirement pension earned to date.

If a participant who has at least 12 years of service but less than 13 years of service is disabled, he is eligible
for a disability pension. He shall receive the portion of the full pension as the period of his service up to the
date of his termination bears to 15 years of service.

If a participant who has less than 12 years of service is disabled in the line of duty, he is eligible for a disability
pension. He shall receive the portion of the full pension as the period of his service up to the date of

termination bears to 20 years of service, 65
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NOTE 10 PENSION PLANS (Cont'd)
Aggregate Pension Fund (cont'd)
City of Easton Police Pension Plan (cont'd)
Death Benefits

If a member who is eligible for retirement dies or is killed in service, a death benefit is payable to a surviving
spouse or children under age 18 in an amount equal to the 100% of the member's normal retirement benefit.

Vesting

A participant's benefits vest upon completion of 12 years of service. The vested benefit is a deferred pension
equal to the benefit accrued to the date of termination. A participant must continue contributing to the Plan
until they would have reached 20 years.

Accrued Pension

The benefit accrued at any date other than the normal retirement date is equal to the projected normal
retirement benefit multiplied by the ratio of the number of years and days of service to date to the total number
of years and days of service projected at normal retirement.

Contributions

Members contribute 6.0% of pay (plus $0.50 per week until age 60).

Member contributions are not credited with interest.
Deferred Retirement Option Program (DROP)

A member with at least 20 years of service but not more than 22 years shall be eligible to enter the DROP. The
DROP period cannot exceed three years. The DROP provisions shall follow Act 44 of 2009,

Investment Policy

The plan's policy in regard to the allocation of invested assets is established and may be amended by the
Aggregated Pension Board. It is the policy of the Aggregate Pension Board to pursue an investment strategy to
obtain a reasonable diversification of investments, which have a ready market for resale. The following was the
Board's adopted asset allocation policy as of December 31, 2019:

Asset Class Target Allocation
Domestic Equity 45.50%
International Equity 9.00%
Fixed Income 40.50%
Real Estate 5.00%
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NOTE 10 PENSION PLANS (Cont'd)
Aggregate Pension Fund (cont'd)
City of Easton Police Pension Plan (cont'd)
Concentrations

Concentrations are defined as investments held by the Police Pension Plan, other than those issued or explicitly
guaranteed by the U.S, Government, in any one organization that represent 5% or more of the plan's fiduciary
net position. At December 31, 2019, the Police Pension Plan does not hold any equities or non-governmental
fixed income sccurities that comprise more than five percent of total investments.

Rate of Return

For the year ended December 31, 2019, the annual money-weighted rate of return on pension plan investments,
net of pension plan investment expense, was 13.48% with UBS and 19.07% with Morgan Stanley. The money-
weighted rate of return expresses investment performance, net of investment expense, adjusted for the changing
amounts actually invested.

Net Pension Liability

The net pension liability was measured as of December 31, 2019, and the total pension liability was determined
by rolling forward the liabilities from an actuarial valuation as of January 1, 2018. No significant events or
changes in assumptions occurred between the valuation date and the fiscal year end. The components of the net
pension liability of the Firemens' Pension Plan at December 31, 2019 were as follows:

$ 48,407,567
27,924,703

$ 20,482,864

Total Pension Liability
Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Net Pension Liability

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage of Total Pension Liability 57.69%

Changes in the Net Pension Liability
Increase (Decrease)

Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension
Liability Net Position Liability
(a) (v) (a) - (b)
Balances at 12/31/2018 $ 43,686,391 $22,371,493 21,314,898
Service Cost 1,191,634 - 1,191,634
Interest Cost 3,246,936 - 3,246,936
Changes of Benefit Terms - - -
Changes for Experience (459,547) - (459,547)
Changes of Assumptions 3,190,482 - 3,190,482
Contributions - employer - 2,887,077 (2,887,077)
Contributions - member - 338,453 (338,453)
Net Investment Income - 4,786,846 (4,786,846)
Benefit Payments, including
refunds of member contributions (2,448,329) (2,448,329) -
Administration Expense - (10,837) 10,837
Other Changes - - -
Net Changes 4,721,176 5,553,210 (832,034)
Balances at 12/31/2019 48,407,567 27,924,703 20,482,864
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Aggregate Pension Fund (cont'd)
City of Easton Police Pension Plan (cont'd)
Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liability in the January 1, 2019 actuarial valuation was determined using the following
economic assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Inflation 3.00%

Salary Increases 5.00% (average, including inflation)
Investment Rate of Return 7.00% (including inflation)
Postretirement Cost of Living Increase 0.00%

Mortality rates were based on the Pub S-2010 mortality table, including rates for disabled retirees and
contingent survivors. Incorporated into the table are rates projected generationally using Scale MP-2018 to
reflect mortality improvement.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block
method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of inflation)
are developed for cach major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of
return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by
adding expected inflation. The target allocation estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset
class are summarized in the following table:

Target Long-Term Expected

Asset Class Allocation Real Rate of Return
Domestic Equity 45.50% 5.50% - 7.50%
International Equity 9.00% 4.50% - 6.50%
Fixed Income 40.50% 1.00% - 3.00%
Real Estate 5.00% 4.50% - 6.50%

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.00%. The pension plan's fiduciary net
position is projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive
employces. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all
periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. The employer has always met the
funding requirements of Pennsylvania law Act 205 of 1984. Act 205 requires full funding of entry age normal
cost plus plan expenses, as well as amortization of the unfunded liability.

Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate
The following presents the net pension liability of the Plan, calculated using the discount rate of 7.00%, as well

as what the Plan's net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-
point lower or I-percentage-point higher than the current rate:

Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(6.00%) (1.00%) (8.00%)
Plan's Net Pension Liability $ 26,978,748 $ 20,482,864 $15,149,948
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Aggregate Pension Fund (cont'd)
City of Easton Police Pension Plan (cont'd)
Pension Expense and Deferred Qutflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions
For the year ended December 31, 2019, the City recognized pension expense of $3,280,590. At December 31, 2019,

the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the
following sources:

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
of Resources of Resources
Difference between expected and actual experience $ 246,072 $  (533,754)
Changes of assumptions 4,417,810 -
Net difference between projected and actual earnings
on pension plan investments 2,023,730 (3,229,332)
Total $ 6,687,612 §$ (3.763,086)

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be
recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year ended December 31:

2020 5 386,247
2021 455,760
2022 758,059
2023 1,460
2024 640,267
2025 341,367
2026 341,366

2,924,526
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NOTE 10 PENSION PLANS
Pennsylvania Municipal Retirement System - Pension Fund

The City of Easton participates in the Pennsylvania Municipal Retirement System (PMRS) which is an agent
multiple-employer public employee retirement system that acts as a common investment and administrative
agent for participating municipal pension plans. According to Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB) Statements No. 67 and 68, PMRS is required to allocate/distribute all funds to the respective
participating employers for financial reporting purposes. to determine the respective employer "plan fiduciary
net position.” PMRS has determined that net investment income or loss and administrative expenscs will be
allocated to the employer/municipality accounts pro-rata based on their beginning Fiduciary Net Position
balance adjusted for cash flows throughout the year. The "Additional administrative expenses” are the expenses
in excess of the "PMRS administrative expenses” (i.e. $20 per participant expense paid by cach plan). The
"PMRS investment income" is based upon the regular and excess interest used to credit accounts annually. The
"Market value investment income" reflects the investment income/loss during the year net of PMRS investment
income and the income/loss due to the difference between expected and actual asset values, including the
impact from allocation of assets in support of the underlying retiree liabilitics. PMRS issues a separate
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR). A copy of the CAFR can be obtained by contacting the
PMRS accounting office or on their website www.pmrs.state.pa.us

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Accounting

The plan's financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting. Plan member contributions arc
recognized in the period in which the contributions are due. Employer contributions to the plan are recognized
when due, in accordance with Act 205, as amended. Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and
payable in accordance with the terms of the plan.

Method used to value investments

Investments are reported at fair value. Short-term investments are reported at cost, which approximates fair
value. Securities traded on a national or international exchange are valued at the last reported sales price at
current exchange rates, Mortgage-backed sccuritics are valued on the basis of future principal and interest
payments and are discounted at prevailing interest rates for similar instruments. The fair value of real estate
investments is based on independent appraisals every three years. In years for which an appraisal is not
performed, real estate investments and investments that do not have an established market value are reported at
estimated fair values. Purchases and sales of investiments are recorded on a trade-date basis.

Funding Standards and State Aid

The City is required to make annual contributions to the plan pursuant to Act 205, which specifics minimum
funding standards for municipal pension plans in the Commonwealth. Act 205 requires the Borough to budget
and contribute to the plan the minimum municipal obligation, which includes both the normal cost of the plan
and an amortization contribution sufficient to amortize unfunded liabilities by target dates established under the
Act.

Act 205 also establishes a general municipal pension system state aid program, financed by a tax on the
premiums of casualty and fire insurance policics sold in the Commonwealth. The City is eligible for this aid for
its pension plan; however, the ultimatc obligation to contribute the minimum municipal obligation to the plans
is the City's.
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NOTE 10 PENSION PLANS (Cont'd)

Pension Plan (cont'd)

Plan Membership
Membership of the plan consisted of the following at December 31, 2018:

Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 73
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 6
Active employees 123
Total Members 202

Plan Administration

The plan participates in the Pennsylvania Municipal Retirement System (PMRS) which is an agent multiple-
employer public employee retirement system that acts as a common investment and administrative agent for
participating municipal pension plans. PMRS issues a separate Comprehensive Annual Financial Report
(CAFR). A copy of the CAFR can be obtained by contacting the PMRS accounting office.

Benefits Provided
The plan provides retirement, disability and death benefits to plan members and their bencficiaries. Costs-of-
living allowances are provided at the discretion of the plan.

Normal Retirement
Accrued Benefit available upon attainment of age 65

Early Retirement
Benefit is available upon attainment of age 55 and 20 years of service

Vesting
A member is 100% vested after 5 years of service

Contributions
No member contributions are required

Investment Policy

The plan's policy in regard to the allocation of invested assets is established and may be amended by the PMRS
Board. The board places greatest emphasis on quality of investments and consistency in return. The following
was the System's adopted asset atlocation policy as of December 31, 2018:

Asset Class Target Allocation
Equities ( large cap ) 25.00%
Equities ( small cap ) 15.00%
Equities ( international ) 15.00%
Equities ( emerging markets ) 10.00%
Fixed Income 15.00%
Real Estate 12.50%
Timber 7.50%
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NOTE 10 PENSION PLANS (Cont'd)

Pension Plan (cont'd)

Concentrations

Concentrations are defined as investments held by the Pension Plan , other than those issued or explicitly
guaranteed by the U.S. Government, in any one organization that represent 5% or more of the plan's fiduciary
net position, At December 31, 2018, PMRS does not hold any equities or non-governmental fixed income
securities that comprise more than five percent of total investments.

Rate of Return

Rates of Return are preparcd by using the time-weighted rate of return methodology based upon market
values. The Pennsylvania Municipal Retirement Board's total investing portfolio was valued at $2.363 billion
as of December 31, 2018 which was a decrease of $137 million from the December 31, 2017 valuation of
$2.500 billion. During the calendar year of 2018, the system recorded a net investment loss of $102.7 million,
the annual money-weighted rate of return on pension plans investments, net of plan investment expenses was
-4.37%.

Net Pension Liability

The net pension liability was measured as of December 31, 2018, and the total pension liability was
determined by rolling forward the liabilities from an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2017. No
significant events or changes in assumptions occured between the valuation date and fiscal year end. The
components of the net pension liability at December 31, 2018 were as follows:

Changes in the Net Pension Liability
Increase (Decrease)

Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension
Liability Net Position Liability
(a) (b) (a)-(b)
Balances at 12/31/2017 $24,157,175 $ 24,583,035 $ (425,860)
Service Cost 988,444 - 988,444
Interest Cost 1,292,954 - 1,292,954
Changes of Benefit Terms 126,611 - 126,611
Changes for Experience (91,976) - (91,976)
Changes of Assumptions - - -
Contributions - employer - 460,434 (460,434)
Contributions - PMRS assessment - 4,340 (4,340)
Contributions - member - 555,028 (555,028)
Net Investment Income - 1,211,925 (1,211,925)
Market Value Investment Income - (2,358,474) 2,358,474
Benefit Payments (771,355) (771,355) -
Administration Expense - (4,160) 4,160
Additional Administrative Expense - (54,083) 54,083
Net Changes 1,544,678 956,345 -
Balances at 12/31/2018 25,701,853 23,626,690 2,075,163

Actuarial Assumptions
The total pension liability in the January 1, 2015 actuarial valuation was determined using the following
economic assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Inflation 2.80%
Salary Increases 2.80%-7.05% (including inflation)
Investment Rate of Return 5.25%
Postretirement Cost of Living Increase Adhoc

Pre-Retirement Mortality Rates were based on the RP2000 Table for males and females. This table does not
include projected mortality improvements.
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Pension Plan (cont'd)

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 5.25%. The pension plan's fiduciary net position is
projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive employees.
Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected
benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. The employer has always met the funding requirements of
Pennsylvania law Act 205 of 1984, Act 205 requires full funding of entry age normal cost plus plan expenses, as well
as amortization of the unfunded liability.

Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate
The following presents the net pension liability of the Plan, calculated using the discount rate of 5.25%, as well as

what the Plan's net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point
lower or I-percentage-point higher than the current rate:

Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(4.25%) (5.25%) (6.25%)
Plan's Net Pension Liability $ 4,173,129 $ 2,075,163 $ 295,960

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage of the Total Pension Liability
84.99% 91.93% 98.76%

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions

For the year ended December 31, 2018, the City recognized pension expense of $902,977. At December 31, 2018, the
City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the following

sources:
Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
of Resources of Resources
Difference between expected and actual experience $ 76,310 $ (147,895)
Changes of assumptions 227315 -
Net difference between projected and actual earnings
on pension plan investments 322,854 -
Total § 626479 5 (147.,895)
Year ended December 31;
2019 $ 90,897
2020 (15,170)
2021 (50,441)
2022 453,298

$ 478584
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POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS PLAN

City of Easton Postretirement Benefit Plan

Plan Description - The City of Easton Postretirement Benefit Plan is a single employer-defined benefit plan
controlled by plan ordinances. The Plan does not issue a stand-alone financial report.

Funding Policy - The contribution requirements of plan members and the City are established and may be awarded
by the City. The required contribution is based upon a projected "pay as you go" financing requirement.

Summary of Benefits - Police

LEligibility for Benefits: Benefits are payable for members who retire after attaining 20 years of service.

Medical Benefits Payable upon Retirement: Eligible retirees may participate in the employer's group medical plan
unless the retired officer is eligible for similar coverage, without premium sharing, through other employment or
through the employment of his/her spouse. While under age 65, the group medical plan includes full
hospitalization, health benefits, prescription drug, dental and vision. While under age 65, the City sponsored plan
to be provided to retirees is the plan that is made available to the active members of the bargaining unit and shall
automatically change if' the plan for active members is changed. At age 65 and older, the City provides Medigap
coverage.

For Officers who retired between 1/1/2012 and 12/31/2014 and were hired prior to January 1, 2006 who retire
prior to age 50, the retiree must reimburse the employer for 50% of the premium quoted by the insurance company
in order to maintain coverage.

For Officers who retired between 1/1/2012 and 12/31/2014 and were hired prior to January 1, 2006 who retired at
age 50 or later, the retirec must reimburse the employer for 40% of the premium quoted by the insurance company
in order to maintain coverage.

For Officers who retired between 1/1/2012 and 12/31/2014 hired after January 1, 2006, the retiree must reimburse
the employer for 65% of the premium quoted by the insurance company in order to maintain coverage while under
age 65. At ages 65 and later, the retiree must reimburse the employer for 65% of the premium..,

Effective January 1, 2015, the retiree must reimburse the employer for 40% of the premium quoted by the
insurance company in order to maintain coverage while under age 635. At age 65 and older, the City will contribute
$100 a month toward health premiums. The retiree must pay the remaining premium.

Disability: The City will pay 100% of the premium for any officer granted a disability pension because of a job
related injury until such officer is eligible for 65 Special and/or Medicare Part B. Spouses of officers granted
disability must contribute 40% of the premium.

Medical Benefits Payable upon Death of Active Officer: Surviving spouses and cligible dependents may participate
in the employer's group medical plan. While under age 65, the group medical plan includes full hospitalization and
health benefits, prescription drug, dental and vision. At ages 65 and older, the City provides Medigap coverage.

For Officers Killed in the Line of Duty, the employer will pay 100% of the premium quoted by the insurance
company in order to maintain coverage while the spouse is under age 65. Premium payments will no longer be paid
by the City if: 1) The spouse elects not to enroll, 2) The surviving spouse remarries, or 3) The spouse is cligible for
Medicare.

For Officers Killed outside of the Line of Duty, the surviving spouse must pay 100% of the premium quoted by the
insurance company in order to maintain coverage unti! age 65.

Dependents: Spouses are covered under the Plan untit age 65. Other dependents are covered as long as they are 18
years old or younger.

Grandfathered Provisions: Some existing retirees are covered under the previous provisions. 14
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NOTE 11 POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS PLAN (Cont'd)

City of Easton Postretirement Benefit Plan (Cont'd)

Summary of Benefits - Fire

Eligibility for Benefits: Benefits are payable for members who retire with 20 years of service.

Medical Benefits Payable upon Retirement: Eligible retirees may participate in the employer's group medical plan.
While under age 65, the group medical plan includes full hospitalization and health benefits, prescription drug,
dental and vision. At age 65 and older, the City provides Medigap coverage.

Retired prior to December 31, 2012:

The retirce must reimburse the employer for a specified percentage of the premium quoted by the insurance
company in order to maintain coverage. If the retiree has more than 30 years of service at retirement, he must pay
40% of the premium. If the retirce has between 25 and 30 years of service at retirement, he must pay 50% of the
premium. If the retiree has between 20 and 25 years of service at retirement, he must pay 75% of the premium,
Retired after December 31, 2012:

For Firefighters who have 30 or more years of service at retirement, the retiree must pay 35% of the premium. If the
retiree has between 20 and 30 years of service, he must pay 60% of the premium. At age 65 and older, the City will
contribute $100 a month toward health premiums. The retirce must pay the remaining premium.

Dependents; Spouses arc covered under the Plan indefinitely.

Grandfathered Provisions: Some existing retirees are covered under the previous provisions.

Summary of Benefits - Non-Uniformed Employees

Eligibility for Benefits: No active employees are eligible for benefits. Only existing retirees were grandfathered into
benefits.

Medical Benefits Payable upon Retirement: Eligible retirees may participate in the employer's group medical plan.
While under age 65, the group medical plan includes full hospitalization and health benefits, prescription drug,
dental and vision. At age 65 and older, the City provides Medigap coverage.

Retirees pay 100% of the premium quoted by the insurance company in order to maintain coverage.

Dependents: Spouses are covered under the Plan indefinitely. Other dependents are covered as long as they are
cligible to be covered under the retiree's benefits.

Participant Data
Based on census information as of January 1, 2019.

The City of Easton has not established a scparate irrevocable Trust Fund for Other Post-Employment Benefits
and consequently has not provided funding in the form of contributions to a plan. The actuarial calculated Implicit

Rate Subsidy amount is estimated by the Actuary, in that claims and expenses for retirees are not tracked separately
and the City's costs for retirees generally exceeds the amounts for premiums.
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City of Easton Postretirement Benefit Plan (Contd.)

Plan Membership - Membership consists of active, vested former and retired employees of the City of Easton Fire and
Police departments. Non-uniformed employees existing retirees were grandfathered into benefits, no active employees are
eligible for benefits. Membership of the plan consisted of the following as of January 1, 2019:

Fire Police Non-Uniform Total
Active Participants 42 62 - 104
Vested Former Members - 5 - 5
Retired Participants 12 17 12 41
54 84 12 150

Total OPEB Liability

The City's total OPEB liability under this single employer plan of $10,664,628 was measured as of December 31, 2019,
and was determined by an actuarial valuation as of January 1, 2019.

Actuarial Assumptions and other inputs

Actuarial valuations involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the probability of events in
the future. Amounts determined regarding the funded status of the benefits and the annual required contributions of the
employer are subject to continual revision, actual results are compared to past expectations and new estimates are made
about the future. The required schedule of funding progress, presented as required supplementary information, provides
multiyear trend information that shows whether the actuarial value of plan Net Position is increasing or decreasing over
time relative to the actuarial accrued liabilities for benefits.

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions. Projections of benefits arc based on the substantive plan (the plan as understood by
the employer and plan members) and include the types of benefits in force at the valuation date and the pattern of sharing
benefit costs between the district and the plan members to that point. Actuarial calculations reflect a long-term perspective
and employ methods and assumptions that are designed to reduce short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and
the actuarial value of assets. Significant methods and assumptions were as follows:

Single Employer
OPEB Healthcare
Benefit
Actuarial Valuation Date 1/1/2019

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal
Interest Rate 3.64% - is based on S&P Municipal Bond 20-year high
grade rate index at 1/1/19.
Projected salary increases 5.0%
Health Care Cost Trend Rate 5.5% in 2019 through 2021. Rate gradually decrease from
5.4% in 2022 to 3.8% in 2075 and later based on the Society
of Actuaries Long-Run Medical Cost Trend Model.

Asset Valuation Method Equal to Market Value of Assets
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Mortality rates are assumed pre-retirement and post-retirement using the rates assumed in the PSERS defined
benefit pension plan actuarial valuation. Incorporated into our retirement table are rates projected generationally by
the Buck Modified 2016 projection scale to reflect mortality improvement.

The actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2019 valuation were based on the results of an actuarial
experience study on January 1, 2019.

Changes in the Net OPEB Liability

Total OPEB Liability Fire Police Non-Uniformed Total
Fiscal Year Ending 12/31/2019
Balance at 1/1/2018 $ 5,215,236 $ 6,942,874 $ 247,993 $ 12,406,103
Service Cost 200,528 437,401 - 637,929
Interest 168,181 230,849 7,347 406,377

Changes of Benefit Terms - - - -
Differences between Expected

and Actual Experience (691,785) (1,208,615) (27,088) (1,927,488)
Changes of Assumptions (178,657) (344,982) 5,025 (518,614)
Benefit Payments (172,753) (138,326) (28,600) (339.679)
Other Changes - - - -

Net Changes (674,486) (1,023,673) (43,316) (1,741,475)
Balance at 1/1/2019 $ 4,540,750 $ 5,919,201 $ 204,677 $ 10,664,628

Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate

The foliowing presents the net OPEB liability of the Plan, as well as what the Plan's net OPEB would be if it were
calculated using a discount rate that is I-percentage point lower or 1-percentage point higher than the current

Net OPEB Liability {Asset) Fire Police Non-Uniformed Total

1% Increase (4.64%) $ 4,140,002 $ 5,303,861 3 179,122 $ 9,622,985
Current Discount Rate (3.64%)  $ 4,540,750 $ 5,919,201 $ 204,677 $ 10,664,628
1% Decrease (2.64%) $ 5,007,748 $ 6,631,686 $ 236,856 $ 11,876,290

Sensitivity of the Net QPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare Cost Trend Rate

The following presents the net OPEB liability of the Plan, as well as what the Plan's net OPEB liability would be if
it were calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are 1-percentage point lower or I-percentage point higher
than the current healthcare cost trend rates:

Net OPEB Liability (Asset) Fire Police Non-Uniformed Total

1% Increase $ 5,023,592 $ 6,816,310 $ 235,970 $ 12,075,872
Current Discount Rate $ 4,540,750 $ 5,919,201 $ 204,677 $ 10,664,628
1% Decrease $ 4,125,676 $ 5,169,542 3 179,260 $ 9,474,478
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OPEB Expense and Deferred Qutflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB

For the year ended December 31, 2019, the City recognized OPEB expense of $806,393. At December 3 1, 2019, the
City reported deferred outflows of resource and deferred inflows of resources related to this single employer OPEB

plan from the following sources:

Deferred Outflows of Resources Fire Police Employees Total
Differences between Expected
and Actual Experience $ - b - $ - $ -
Changes of Assumptions 159,275 238,145 9,676 407,096
Benefit Payments subsequent to
the Measurement Date (1/1/2019) 160,187 132,140 7,735 300,062
Total Deferred Outflows $ 319,462 $ 370,285 $ 17411 § 707,158
Deferred Inflows of Resources Fire Police Employees Total
Differences between Expected
and Actual Experience $ 605,312 $ 1,057,538 $ 23,702 § 1,686,552
Changes of Assumptions 156,325 301,859 (4,397 453,787
Total Deferred Inflows $ 761,637 $ 1,359,397 $ 19305 § 2,140,339

$300,062 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB resulting from City contributions subsequent
to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net OPEB liability and other deferred outflows and
inflows of resources related to this single employer OPEB plan will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows:

Future Deferred Outflows and (Inflows) to be Recognized as OPER Expense (Income)

Fire

Fiscal Year Ending

December 31, 2020 $
December 31, 2021

December 31, 2022

December 31, 2023

December 31, 2024

Thereafter

(82,259)
(82,259)
(82,259)
(82,259)
(82,259)
(191,067)

Police

$  (154,509)
(154,509)
(154,509)
(154,509)
(154,509)
(348,707)

$

Emplovees Total
(1,145) $  (237,913)
(1,145) (237,913)
(1,145) (237,913)
(1,145) (237,913)
(1,143) (237,913)
(3,904) (543,678)

$ (1,733,243)
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NOTE 12 LEASE AND OPERATING AGREEMENT

The City of Easton and the Easton Suburban Water Authority entered into a Lease and Operating Agreement on
December 5, 2006, to be effective January 1, 2007. The term of the Lease and Operating Agreement shall be twenty-
five (25) years from it’s effective date unless it is extended by mutual agreement of the parties. The City desires and
intends to permanently and completely cease providing water service to customers within its municipal boundaries,
as well and permanently and completely cease sclling water to the Authority for distribution outside of the
municipal boundarics of the City.

Commensurate with the City’s abovementioned intent, the Authority desires and intends to assume responsibility
for the operation of the City water supply and distribution systems inclusive of the water treatment and filtration
plant hereaficr collectively referred to as the “Water System™ by utilizing facilitics, equipment, materials, and
supplies currently used by the City for the purpose.

The Authority desires and intends to assume responsibility for administrative aspects of operating the Water
System and further intends to assume responsibility in determining the financial and operational feasibility of
capital improvements, repairs, replacements and upgrades needed to provide water service both within and outside
of the municipal boundaries of the City.

The 1958 Lease Agreement, as amended in 1991 for the distribution systems outside of the City, and the Water
Treatment Plant Renovation and Expansion Agreement between the parties remains in force, except as specifically
amended by the Lease and Operating Agreement. Water Purchase Agreements, as amended are hereby terminated
and are of no further force and effect.

The City hereby leases to the Authority all facilities of the Water System including, but not limited to, its water
filtration plant, reservoirs, pumping stations, lines, hydrants, meters, valves, blow-offs, customer services from main
to curb box, and all other facilities of the Water System. It is the intention of the parties that each and every City-
owned facility utilized in the supply and distribution of water within and outside the municipal boundarics of the
City is included under the terms of the lease.

The City and the Authority agree that in return for the Authority operating the Water System for the term of this
Lease, and retaining all revenues generated from it, the Authority has complied with the following payment
provisions:

a) Lump Sum Payment - One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) on the effective date of this Agreement;
b) Debt Forgiveness - All sums duc to the Authority from the City (approximately Eight Hundred

Thousand Dollars ($800,000.00) for water treatment plant design, water treatment plant action plan,
purchased water rates, etc. shall be forgiven on the effective date of this Agreement;
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¢) Reimbursement - Reimbursement of Authority-approved invoiced direct costs related to the Morgan
Hill tanks replacement project design and permitting and the City’s Large Meter Replacement Program;

d) Annual Payment - One Million Three Hundred Thousand Dollars ($1,300,000.00), payable in twelve
(12) monthly payments beginning on the 15th day of the first month following the effective date of this
Agreement. The amount of the annual payment will be increased by two percent (2%) cach year, and
calculated by multiplying the immediately proceeding annual payment by 1.02%:

e) Variable Payment - The amount to be paid will equal one-third (1/3) of the capacity portion of the
tapping fees collected by the Authority.

Upon termination of the Lease and Operating Agreement, all property, of every type and nature, leased to the

Authority by this Agreement as well as all assignable permits and approvals needed to operate the Water System,
shall be transferred from the Authority to the City.

MASTER LEASE AGREEMENT

Master Lease Agreement dated February 27, 2013, between the City of Easton and Easton Parking Authority. The
City is the owner of a certain parcel of rcal estate known as 123 and 181 South Third Street, Easton. The L.ehigh and
Northampton Transportation Authority ("Lanta”) is desirous of operating an intcrmodel transit passenger waiting
and service area ("Transportation Center") on a portion of the Land. The City and Parking Authority will construct
the Transportation Center on a portion of the Land and will include a parking garage and bus transfer facility that
will be developed to meet the specifications to be mutually agreed upon by LANTA, the City and the Parking
Authority. The City and the Parking Authority arc entering into this Lease with respect to the portion of the Project
constituting the parking garage and Transportation Center. LANTA desires to sublease a portion of the Leases
Premises from the Parking Authority upon the terms and conditions more fully set forth in the Sublease.

The term of this Lease shall commence upon the date hereof and shall extend (unless carlier terminated as provided
herein) through the date which is ninety-nine (99) years after the "Commencement Date” of the Sublease which is
the date of the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy for the LANTA Premises. The Parking Authority agrees to
lease the Leases Premises and further agrees and covenants to pay the City, rent for the Leased Premises for the term
set forth in the amount of $1.00. In addition to Rent, the Parking Authority shall also pay all water, sewer, electric,
heating, air conditioning, real estate taxes, if applicable, and all other utility charges for the Leased Premises, except
to the extent such charges are paid by LANTA. The Parking Authority may, at its own expense, perform all routine
maintenance of and repairs to the Leases Premises or request that the City perform such routine maintenance and
repair items in accordance with any existing management or similar agreement betwcen the parties.

RESTRICTED AND COMMITTED FUND BALANCES

Restricted - The Liquid Fuels, Capital Project Funds and Major Grant Funds are restricted in accordance with state
and federal regulations and debt covenant provisions in the total amount of $2,667,560. Internal Service Funds
established for health, liability and unemployment resources are restricted in accordance with their original insurable
purposes in the total amount of $443,078.

Committed - Funds allocated within Debt Service and Other Special Revenue Funds are committed for future
purposes as they are individually established in the total amount of $1,603,448.
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CONTINGENCIES

Grant Program Involvement

In the normal course of operations, the City participates in various federal or state grant programs from year to year.
The grant programs are often subject to additional audits by agents of the granting agency, the purpose of which is
to ensure compliance with the specific conditions of the grant or loan. Any liability of reimbursement that may arise
as a result of these audits cannot be reasonably determined at this time, although it is believed the amount, if any,
would not be material.

Litigation
The City of Easton is also a defendant in various other lawsuits. Although the outcome of these lawsuits is not
presently determinable, in the opinion of the City's counsel, the resolution of these various lawsuits will not have a

material adverse effect on the financial condition of the government.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

As of the date of our report, the City of Easton is preparing a preliminary offering statement for a $43.360 million
Federally Taxable Bond Issue, the proceeds of which would be used to restructure and advanced refund outstanding
General Obligation Bonds, provide funds for capital improvement projects and to pay the cost of issuance of the
2020 Notes.

81



CITY OF EASTON
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31. 2019

NOTE 16 ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITY ZONES

In partnership with the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, the County of Northampton, and the Easton Area School
District, the City of Easton is excited to offer two special programs to encourage community and economic
development in various regions or zones throughout the City. The two current programs — the Keystone
Opportunity Zone (KOZ) program and the Local Economic Revitalization Tax Assistance (LERTA) program are
explained below.

Kevstone Qpportunity Zone

Several sites in Easton were recently designated part of a regional Keystone Opportunity Zone (KOZ) by the State
of Pennsylvania. Unlike the NIZ and CRIZ programs in Allentown and Bethlehem, KOZs provide clear and
tangible tax benefits directly to business owners and residents that reside in the zones. The KOZ status for these
sites will expire in 2023,

The tax benefit offered in a KOZ site depends on whether the taxpayer is a resident in the KOZ, owns and operates
a business in the KOZ, and/or owns property in the KOZ as follows:

If your residence is in the KOZ — you are not required to pay State and local income taxes. The State’s income
tax is currently 3.07%, while Easton’s Earned Income Tax is 1.95% (regardless of where you work). To be
eligible for these benefits, your permanent resident must be in the KOZ for 184 consecutive days during a
given calendar year.

If your business resides in the KOZ — the business is not required to pay State Corporate Net Income Tax,
State Sales/Use Tax for items consumed in the KOZ, and a host of other State taxes. The business is also not
required to pay Easton’s Business Privilege Tax, which ranges from 0.1% to 0.25% of gross receipts
(depending on business type). To be eligible for these benefits, the business must increase its full time
employment by 20% in its first year in the KOZ, make a significant capital investment in the property, or enter
into a lease agreement for the duration of the KOZ (or longer).

If you are a property in the KOZ — If you own property in a KOZ, you are not required to pay County, City, or
Easton Area School District real estate taxes. To be eligible for these benefits, the property must stay compliant
with tax and zoning requirements.

KOZ sites in the City of Easton include the Simon Silk Mill complex, the Easton City Hall and Transportation
Center, the Governor Wolf Building, 118-120 Northampton Street, and a Silk Mill located in the South Side of
Easton. For more information on the above sites, e-mail John Kingsley at jikingsley@easton-pa.gov. The
Northampton Street and Silk Mill in South Side properties will qualify as KOZ sites in 2017.

Local Economic Revitalization Tax Assistance (LERTA) Progsram

The Local Economic Revitalization Tax Assistance (LERTA) program is designed to promote and provide
incentives for property investment by granting partial tax abatement on improvements made to properties within a
designated LERTA District. Senate Bill #305 of 1977 enables the establishment of LERTA Districts in the State of
Pennsylvania.

Easton City Council passed an ordinance amending Chapter 531, Tax Abatements, of the Codes of the City of
Easton, Pa. to define the terms of the LERTA, set the exemption amount and schedule, and provide a procedure for
property owners to secure an exemption. The Easton Area School District Board and Northampton County Council
passed similar ordinances allowing the re-cstablishment of the LERTA program in Easton.

Property owners of residential, commercial, industrial, or any other type of property located within the LERTA
District are eligible for 10 year partial tax abatement on property tax increases which are a result of substantial
property improvement and subsequent property reassessment by Northampton County.

Easton’s LERTA District was established by City Council Resolution #66-2012. Information on LERTA District
cligible properties is available at the Department of Planning & Codes on the 2nd floor of City Hall or online at
www.easton-pa.gov in the forms and documents section of the Community and Economic Development tab.

For more information about the LERTA program, e-mail John Kingsley at jkingsley@easton-pa.gov.
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CITY OF EASTON
AGGREGATE PENSION FUND
OFFICERS' AND EMPLOYEES' PENSION PLAN
SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN NET PENSION LIABILITY

Total Pension Liability 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Service Cost $ 7,308 § 6,806 § 6482 § 1439 § 13,710 $ 17,966
Interest Cost 575,521 588,652 612,746 656,144 685,520 713,728
Benefit Payments, including

refunds of member contributions (907,571) (928,861) (986,572)  (1,077,707)  (1,105,482)  (1,081,524)
Changes in Benefit Terms - - - - - -
Changes in Benefit Experience (227,607) - (382,462) - (10,039) -
Changes in Benefit Assumptions 509,807 - 603,328 - - -
Net Change in total pension liability (42,542) (333,403) (146.,478) (407,167) (416,291) (349.830)
Total Pension Liability - Beginning 8,386,002 8,719,405 8,865,883 9,273,050 9,689,341 10,039,171
Total Pension Liability - Ending (a) $8343.460 $8,386,002 § 8,719,405 $8,865883 $9,273,050 $ 9,689,341

Plan Net Position

Contributions - Employer $ 436,867 § 828255 $§ 827,782 § 782,506 $ 804,861 $ 524433
Contributions - Members 5,017 7,950 7,007 7,288 12,996 20,384
Net Investment Income 868,839 (349,737) 645,050 396,395 (123,831) 411,644
Benefit Payments including refunds

of member contributions (907,571) (928,861) (986,572)  (1,077,707)  (1,105,482)  (1,081,524)
Administrative Expense (8.,287) (18,866) (6,503) (13,676) (11,783) (10,5%90)
Other Changes - - - - 6,704 920

Net Change in Plan Fiduciary Net Position § 394,865 $ (461.259) § 486,764 $ 94,806 § (416,535) ' § (134,733)

Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Beginning 4,672,664 5,133,923 4,647,159 4,552,353 4,968,888 5,103,621

Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Ending (b) 5,067,529 4,672,664 5,133,923 4,647,159 4,552,353 4,968,888

City's net pension liability -
Ending (a) - (b) $3,275931 $3,713338 § 3,585482 $4,218,724 $4,720,697 $4,720.453

Plan fiduciary net position as a
percentage of the total pension liability 60.74% 55.72% 58.88% 52.42% 49.09% 51.28%

Covered-employee payroll $ 77,184 § 75486 $ 117,832 $ 143,982 $ 180,815 $ 242.604

City's net pension liability as a
percentage of covered-employee payroll 4244.31% 4919.24% 3042.88% 2930.04% 2610.79% 1945.74%



AGGREGATE PENSION FUND

CITY OF EASTON

OFFICERS' AND EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT AND PENSION PLAN

SCHEDULE OF CITY CONTRIBUTIONS

Contribution

Actuarially Contributions Contribution Covered asa % of

Determined From Deficiency/ Employee Covered Employee
Year Contribution Employer (Surplus) Payroll Payroll
2010 $ 43,788 $ 43,788 $ - $ - $ -
2011 164,399 164,399 - - -
2012 157,440 157,440 - - -
2013 516,830 516,830 - - -
2014 524,433 524,433 - 242,604 216.17%
2015 804,861 804,861 - 180,815 445.13%
2016 782,506 782,506 - 143,982 543.47%
2017 827,782 827,782 - 117,832 702.51%
2018 828,255 828,255 - 75,486 1097.23%
2019 436,867 436,867 - 77,184 566.01%

Notes to Schedule

Valuation Date: Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of January 1, two to four years prior {o the end of the
fiscal year in which the contributions are reported.

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:

Actuarial Valuation Date: 1/1/2017
Actuarial Cost Method: Entry Age Normal

Amortization Mcthod: Level Dollar Closed
Remaining Amortization Period: 15 years
Asset Valuation Method: Smoothed value with a corridor of 90% to 110% of market value.

Inflation: 3.00%
Salary Increases: 5.00%

Investment Rate of Return: 7.125%

Retirement Age: Age 65

Mortality: IRS 2017 Static Combined Table for Small Plans. Incorporated into the tabie are rates for annuitants
projected 7 years and rates for non-annuitants projects 15 years using Scale AA to reflect mortality improvement.

Changes in benefit terms: None sine 1/1/2017.

CITY OF EASTON

AGGREGATED PENSION FUND

OFFICERS' AND EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT AND PENSION PLAN

SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENT RETURNS

Annual money-weighted rate of return net of investment expense - UBS

Morgan Stanley

2019
13.48%
19.07%

2018
-6.94%

2017
14.64%
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Total Pension Liability

Service Cost

Interest Cost

Benefit Payments, including
refunds of member contributions

Changes in Benefit Terms

Changes in Benefit Experience

Changes in Benefit Assumptions

Net Change in total pension liability

Total Pension Liability - Beginning

Total Pension Liability - Ending (a)

Plan Net Position

Contributions - Employer

Contributions - Members

Net Investment Income

Benefit Payments including refunds
of member contributions

Administrative Expense

Other Changes

Net Change in Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Beginning
Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Ending (b)

City's net pension liability -
Ending (a) - (b)

Plan fiduciary net position as a
percentage of the total pension liability

Covered-employee payroll

City's net pension liability as a

percentage of covered-employee payroll

CITY OF EASTON
AGGREGATE PENSION FUND
FIREMENS' PENSION PLAN
SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN NET PENSION LIABILITY

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
$ 628589 § 648,120 $ 617257 $ 585056 $ 557.196 $ 571,789
2,455,853 2,213,895 2,165,996 2,046,325 1,943,501 1,900,331
(1,864,869) (1,218,171)
- - (1,127,855) (1,439,980) (1,041,050) (1,120,697)
132,527 - (324,978) - (696,365) -
1,412,209 - 1,824,790 - - -
2,764,309 1,643,844 3,155,210 1,191,401 763,282 1,351,423
33,573,554 31,929,710 28,774,500 27,583,099 26,819,817 25,326,303
$36,337,863  §33.573.554 $31.929,710 $28,774.500 $27.583,099 §$26.677,726
$ 1463642 § 1,522,361 $ 1,508,983 $ 1,418,639 $ 1415944 $ 1,061,666
242,652 203,408 221,637 206,592 215,973 201,891
4,625,507 (1,682,480) 2,954,972 1,849,123 (493,043) 1,483,012
(1.864,869) (1,218,171) (1,127,855) (1,439,980) (1,041,050) (1,120,697)
(8,537) (29,935) (16,034) (17,462) (12,604) (14,084)
- - - - 2,758 920
$ 4458395 $(1,204.817) $ 3,541,703 $ 2016912 § 87,978 § 1,612,708
22,487,695 23,692,512 20,150,809 18,133,897 18,045,919 16,291,120
26,946,090 22,487,695 23,692,512 20,150,809 18,133,897 17,903,828
$ 9391773 §$11085859 § 8237,198 § 8623691 $ 9449202 $ 8,773,898
74.15% 66.98% 74.20% 70.03% 65.74% 67.11%
§ 3,594,188 § 2,841,066 § 2,918,361 $ 3,782.072 $ 3,624,573 $ 3,081,522
261.30% 390.20% 282.25% 228.01% 260.70% 284.73%
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CITY OF EASTON
AGGREGATE PENSION FUND
FIREMENS' RETIREMENT AND PENSION PLAN
SCHEDULE OF CITY CONTRIBUTIONS

Contribution

Actuarially Contributions Contribution Covered as a % of

Determined From Deficiency/ Employee Covered Employee
Year Contribution Employer (Surplus) Payroll Payroll
2010 $ 434,626 h) 434,626 $ - $ - $ -
2011 434,219 434,219 - - -
2012 441,521 441,521 - - -
2013 1,073,905 1,073,905 - - -
2014 1,061,666 1,061,666 - 3,081,522 34.45%
2015 1,415,944 1,415,944 - 3,624,573 39.07%
2016 1,418,639 1,418,639 - 3,782,072 37.51%
2017 1,508,983 1,508,983 - 2,918,361 51.71%
2018 1,522,361 1,522,361 - 2,841,066 53.58%
2019 1,463,642 1,463,642 - 3,594,188 40.72%

Notes to Schedule

Valuation Date: Actuariaily determined contribution rates are calculated as of January 1, two to four years prior to the end of the
fiscal year in which the contributions are reported.

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:
Actuarial Valuation Date: 1/1/2017
Actuarial Cost Method: Entry Age Normal
Amortization Method: Level Dollar Closed
Remaining Amortization Period: 11 years
Asset Valuation Method: Smoothed value with a corridor of 90% to 110% of market value.
Inflation: 3.00%
Salary Increases: 5.00%
Investment Rate of Return: 7.125%
Retirement Age: Age 55 and completion of 25 years of service.
Mortality: IRS 2017 Static Combined Table for Small Plans. Incorporated into the table are rates for annuitants
projected 7 years and rates for non-annuitants projects 15 years using Scale AA to reflect mortality improvement.

Changes in benefit terms: None sine 1/1/2017.

CITY OF EASTON
AGGREGATE PENSION FUND
FIREMENS' PENSION PLAN
SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENT RETURNS

2019 2018 2017
Annual money-weighted rate of return net of investment expense - UBS 13.48% -6.94% 14.64%
Morgan Stanley 19.07%
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Total Pension Liability

Service Cost

Interest Cost

Benefit Payments, including
refunds of member contributions

Changes in Benefit Terms

Changes in Benefit Experience

Changes in Benefit Assumptions

Net Change in total pension liability

Total Pension Liability - Beginning

Total Pension Liability - Ending (a)

Plan Net Position

Contributions - Employer

Contributions - Members

Net Investment Income

Benefit Payments including refunds
of member contributions

Administrative Expense

Other Changes

Net Change in Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Beginning

Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Ending (b)

City's net pension liability -
Ending (a) - (b)

Plan fiduciary net position as a

percentage of the total pension liability

Covered-cmployee payroll

City's net pension liability as a

percentage of covered-employee payroll

CITY OF EASTON

AGGREGATE PENSION FUND

POLICE PENSION PLAN

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN NET PENSION LIABILITY

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
$ 1,191,634 § 1,005773 $§ 957,879 § 848,805 $ 808386 $ 753,083
3,246,936 2,984,555 2,876,380 2,743,288 2,645,645 2,506,321
(2,448,329) (2.373,312) (2,354,497) (2,244,052) (2,141,028) (2,085,465)
(459,547 - (210,640) - 656,187 -
3,190,482 - 2,601,819 - - -
4,721,176 1,617,016 3,870,941 1,348,041 1,969,190 1,173,939
43,686,391 42,069,375 38,198,434 36,850,393 34,881,203 33,707,264
$48,407,567 $43.686,391 $42,069,375 $38,198434 $36,850,393 §$34.881,203
$ 2,887,077 § 2,501,073 $ 2,510,888 $ 2,246363 $ 2304171 $ 1,703,854
338,453 313,440 314,754 292,681 280,296 258,853
4,786,846 (1,674,439) 2,967,235 1,722,920 (495,045) 1,512,997
(2,448,329) (2,373,312) (2,354,497) (2,244,052) (2,141,028) (2,085,465)
(10,837) (25,116) (8,818) (17,066) (13.889) (14,805)
- 100 100 100 (1,088) 1,020
$ 5,553,210  $(1,258254) § 3,429,662 $ 2,000,946 $  (66,583) § 1,376,454
22,371,493 23,629,747 20,200,085 18,199,139 18,265,722 16,889,268
27,924,703 22,371,493 23,629,747 20,200,085 18,199,139 18,265,722
$20,482.864 $21314,898 §$18439,628 §$17,998,349 $18.651.254 $16,615,48I
57.6%% 51.21% 56.17% 52.88% 49.39% 52.37%
$ 4617458 § 4837962 § 4,561,549 $ 4,758,818 $ 4,755,170 $ 4,648,695
443.60% 440.58% 404.24% 378.21% 392.23% 357.42%
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CITY OF EASTON
AGGREGATE PENSION FUND
POLICE RETIREMENT AND PENSION PLAN
SCHEDULE OF CITY CONTRIBUTIONS

Contribution

Actuarially Contributions Contribution Covered asa % of

Determined From Deficiency/ Employee Covered Employee
Year Contribution Employer (Surplus) Payroll Payroll
2010 $ 485,312 $ 485,312 h) - $ - $ -
2011 843,933 843,934 ¢)] - -
2012 761,291 761,291 - - -
2013 1,684,086 1,684,086 - - -
2014 1,703,854 1,703,854 - 4,648,695 36.65%
2013 2,304,171 2,304,171 - 4,755,170 48.46%
2016 2,246,363 2,246,363 - 4,758,818 47.20%
2017 2,510,888 2,510,888 - 4,561,549 55.04%
2018 2,501,073 2,501,073 - 4,837,962 51.70%
2019 2,887,077 2,887,077 - 4,617,458 62.53%

Notes to Schedule

Valuation Date: Actuariaily determined contribution rates are calculated as of January 1, two to four years prior to the end of the
fiscal year in which the contributions are reported.

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:
Actuarial Valuation Date: 1/1/2017
Actuarial Cost Method: Entry Age Normal
Amortization Method: Level Dollar Closed
Remaining Amortization Period: 13 years
Asset Valuation Method: Smoothed value with a corridor of 90% to 110% of market value.
Inflation: 3.00%
Salary Increases: 5.00%
Investment Rate of Return: 7.125%
Retirement Age: Age 55 and completion of 25 years of service.
Mortality: IRS 2017 Static Combined Table for Small Plans. Incorporated into the table are rates for annuitants
projected 7 years and rates for non-annuitants projects 135 years using Scale AA to reflect mortality improvement.

Changes in benefit terms: None sine 1/1/2017.

CITY OF EASTON
AGGREGATE PENSION FUND
POLICE PENSION PLAN
SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENT RETURNS

2019 2018 2017
Annual money-weighted rate of return net of investment expense - UBS 13.48% -6.94% 14.64%
Morgan Stanley 19.07%
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CITY OF EASTON
PMRS PENSION FUND
SCHEDULE OF CITY CONTRIBUTIONS
LAST TEN MEASUREMENT YEARS (if available)

Actuarially Contribution Contribution Covered Contributions

Determined from Deficiency/ Employee as a % of
Year Contribution Employer (Excess) Payroll Payroll
2014 $302,232 $314,675 -$12,443 $6,261,571 5.03%
2015 $405,659 $405,999 -$340 $6,194,675 6.55%
2016 $391,711 $393,678 -$1,967 $6,565,031 6.00%
2017 $446,855 $468,631 -$21,776 $6,982,208 6.71%
2018 $464,594 $464,774 -$180 $7.141,603 6.51%

Notes to Schedule

Valuation Date: Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of January 1 for the odd valuation year at least
two years prior to the end of the fiscal year in which the contributions were reported. Therefore, the Actuarially Determined
Contribution for calendar year 2018 is based upon the January 1, 2015 actuarial valuation.

A summary of the key assumptions and methods used to determine the contribution rates:
*  Actuarial Cost Method: Entry Age
*  Amortization Period: Level doliar based upon the amortization periods in Act 205
*  Asset valuation method: Based upon the municipal reserves
*  Discount Rate: 5.50%
* Inflation: 3.0%
*+  Salary increases: age related scale with merit and inflation component
*  COLA increases: 3.0% for those eligibie for a COLA
+  Pre-Retirement Mortality: Males - RP-2000 with 1 year set back, Females - RP-2000 with 5 year set back
+  Post-Retirement Mortality: Sex distinct RP-2000 Combined Healthy Mortality

Historical Changes in Assumptions:

12/31/2015:  Assumptions based on the PMRS Experience Study for the period covering January 1, 2009 through
December 31, 2013 issued by the actuary in July 2015 first effective.

12/31/2016: Investment Return Assumption for municipal assets decreased from 5.50% to 5.25%.
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CITY OF EASTON

SCHEDULE OF THE CITY'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF NET OPEB LIABILITY

SINGLE EMPLOYER HEALTH INSURANCE PLAN

CUMULATIVE TEN FISCAL YEARS REPORT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

Total OPEB Liabiltiy

Service Cost

Interest

Changes in Benefit Terms

Difference between expected and actual experience
Changes in assumptions

Benefit payments

Other Changes

Net Change

Total OPEB Liability - beginning

Total OPEB Liability - ending

Covered employee payroll

Total OPEB Liability as a percentage of covered employee payroll

This information is shown for the last ten years, if available.

2019 2018
637,929 § 557,833
406,377 428,631

(1,927,488) -

(518,614) 542,796
(339,679) (259,030)

(1,741,475) 1,270,230

12,406,103 11,135,873

10,664,628  $ 12,406,103

10,392,351 § 7,174,245
102.62% 172.93%
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CITY OF EASTON

OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

DECEMBER 31. 2019

Other Post-Employment Benefits - Single Employer Healthcare Plan

Changes in assumptions

The discount rate changed from 3.16% to 3.64%. The trend assumption was updated.

Methods and assumptions used in calculations of actuarially determined contributions

Actuarial Cost Method
Interest Rate

Projected salary increases

Health Care Cost Trend Rate

Asset Valuation Method

Entry Age Normal
3.64% - is based on S&P Municipal Bond 20-year high
grade rate index at 1/1/2019.

5.00%

5.5% in 2019 through 2021, Rate gradually decrease
from 5.4% in 2022 to 3.8% in 2075 and later based on
the Society of Actuaries Long-Run Medical Cost Trend
Model.

Equal to Market Value of Assets

92



SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION



- § EIvIL s - S L61'9L § TL'e S 0cL'cs  § - S - S 91<'68 S 86CFTE S Te3 X jo pug 2duefeq punj

(000'001) LLETYE €2C'99¢ 865°C0F L' 610'8L 8L6°CT 9€1°L0€T ¥o1°61T LET'LEY'E Te3 § jo Sutuuiag soueleq pung

000°001 $ (196'690) S (£TT'99¢) s (10¥'9z¢) s - S IIL's s (8L6'TD § (9€1'L0gD) S (8¢8'ST1) S (6£8°TICT) § saimupuadxy (19pun)/1980
SaNUSAIY (Asusis1a(])/ss3oxXg

- S L81TCE 5 PEL'STS S 10v'9Z€ S - M - S 8L6TT S 000°§$£'T S 669°1LY1 S 666'€T0'S S saunyipuadxy [E10}
- 000°001 T15%6s1 - " - - - - 116°652 (nQ) segsuer),
- - - - - - - 000°€S€°T - 000°$S€T AIAG I
- - - - - - - - - - uaurdojaas(] ueqin
6LT'9 - - - 8L6'TT - - LST'6T uoneaIday - aImny
- - - 0Z1°50€ N " - - - 0Z1'50¢ San|Ioe ] Bubjred - s3104 d1qng
- - - 187°1C - - - - 0€0°€Z8 T1E'bH8 uoneniueg - SYIOM dliqnd
- 6£1°C 809°€0¢ - - " - - 887°07T SE0°9¥S sAemyBIy
- - - - - - - - LT'YbE 9LI'ppE Kages sqng
- S 8K0'00T S 9€c'9s s - S - S - s - s - S S0T'F8 S 685°0pE S [e1suan

SEIMIpuSaxg

000001 S €T § 116681 s - S - s IILS S - § 98y S IS8SyET S 091°1ILT § SoNUdASY [RI0)
0007001 - 116°6¢1 - - - - Yos°LY - SLELOE up Jaysuetf
- - - - - - - - 8£8°6S 828°6S 51985y JO 3jeg
- - - - - - - - 0£8°'108 0c8'io8 525837 WOY Spadd0id
- €I7'TS - - - - - - - IXaards SPUCY WIOI] SP3ad0ld
- - - - - - - - - - ammypuadxy rea § 1oud jo punjay
- - - - - - - - 001°TS1 001°Z51 sadrey) [esusyy
- - - - - - - - cro'TEs ro'zee SNUIATY 532INOG [ed07]
- $ - S - S - s - § 1iL's s " S - S - S HILS S SUWIOOU] 152193u]
SoNUFATY
- S CIVIL S - § 179'LTl S IrLc S SIL'IIT S 8L6TT S THT'9SS S 86L°661 § 60S°¢61'1 § aoueeq pung
puE saniIqer] [e10],
- SIPIL - L61°9L (4784 0cL'c - - 91£'68 86E°bTE 2ouefRy pung
- - - 18¢°1¢ - $86°LT1 8L6'TT oSS - 98b°87L spung 2Q 01 anq
- S - S - S cyles S - S - S - S - $ 8¥oll S ST90VT S jqedeq siunoooy

T PUy 7 SIIGET ]

- S El¥iL s - S 179'LTl § 't S SILIIT S 8L6TL  § THT'9ES § 86L'661 S 60S°€6l'l § S1955Y [EI0L

- - - - - - - - 001°8 001°8 Auoyniny raeA UeqIngng uoisesy

- - - - - $86'LT1 - - - $86°LTI yred 2100 ydny
-9]qeA1203y [RuaunusAoiIaiuf

- - - LS0'8T - - - 8L£'80S - SEP'OLS Spun PP woy an|g

- S €It s - $ +95°66 § oL S 0EL'€8 S 8L6TT § p98LE $ 869161 S 686075 S siua[eAlnby % yse)

SISV
puny pung puseg  puny puog puny puog pung puog  punyj uvo] pung  pungajoninforg pungpude)  TVLOL
1ede) oseyaing ey 1D “Aapeg 1dwaxy Xe] SI07 AqEXELSI07  Bulaoady  puog 1107 L107/8107 Suirjossy

Bupping WS pury-L167  NqRd - L10T

610¢C 1€ YIgNH0da
SANNA LOA[0dd TVILIdVD 10 ITNAIHDS
NOLSVH 40 ALID




6

986'F€8 §  $I9'CS s - § LEEHI $ 9ZCE0E  § L8Y'Ce $ 8SH0IC s (OLL'Y) § 8¥H'€09'l
- 8CC'TS s - LETHI 9Z6'v6T 086°8¥1 8SH'01€ (0LL'Y) 650918
986'v€8  §  96€ $ - S 00l S 00¥'8 $ (g6¥'95) $ - S - $ 68¢°L8L
6IL'€8E § PESSRl  § €88'[¢s § - s - S 1IS6ES] s - s - S LY9'0V9T
- - - - - €P6'C8 - - £96°€8
- - C16'9%t - - - - - T16°9tF
- - 10678 - - - - - 1L6'p8
- - - - - 895°5SH°| - - 895°¢SP ]
61L°€8¢ - - - - - - - 61L°¢8¢
- $ tes'sgl s - s - s - s - s - § - $  pesies|
SOL'BIT'T § 066581 § €88°I€S S 00! $ 00t'8 $ 810'¢8y'] § - s - S 9L0'8TH'C
0T6'L - - - - 6cl'c - - 650°11
- - - 001 - - - - 001
- - £88°1¢¢ - - - - - £88°1€S
- - - - 00v'8 - - - 0048
S8LOIT'L - - - - - - - $82°01T°1
- - - - - 056°'LYT - - 0$6°LYT
- - - - - 000°0% - - 000°0%
- 0£6°581 - - - - - - 0£6°¢81
- g - $ - s - s - S 6T6'161°1 s - s - § 6T6°161°1
0St'6v6  §  v8'16 g - § Lee'pl § OrE'COE § gSiTyl I § - $ 89T'118°]
986°v€8 ¥z9'Ts - LEE L 9TE'c0¢ L8Y'T6 8SH°01¢ (0LL'y) 8FY'€09°1
- 888°0 - - - ovT'6 - - AR
160t 090°¢T - - - - - ol £5T°6C
901°501 - - - - - - 899°C YLL'LOL
L96't TLT's - - - 0TH'ob - - 659°1¢
0S1'6v6  § 816 § - §  LEEpI S 9Te'E0E  §  £C1°THI § 8st'0l¢ § - S 8971181
- - - - - y10°S1 000°08¢ - ¥10°S6¢C
- - - - 90014 - - - 900°1L
STC'I8T $09°C - - - - - - 0€8°¢8C
ST6'L99 S 6£T'68 g - $ LEEPI § oreTEr  §  6LlLTl $  8S¥0¢ s - S SIYI9I]
ySIN HeH A3D 2400 punyj aedg UOLEIIIIY umensay sjuean) TVILIOL
J01BMULI0IS Apaoyiny suoneuoQq uadQy [e1apay

610T 1€ YIdWHDIA
SANN INNFATE TVIOAdS 40 I TNAFHDS
NOLSVH 0 ALDD

1B3A JO pud aduejeq puny
1ea A Jo SutuwSag souejeq pun

sanyipuadxyg (Jepu})/19A0
sanuaaay (Aoua1dya(])/ssaoxg

sanyipuadxy (210

(InQ) s19ysurel ]

#2yio

Suisnoy
-usudooas(g ueqin)
uoneaIdyY
Kages a1gng
I91BA\ ULIOIS - SYIOM 21{qnyd
SpeOY - SYIoM dlqnd
JUDWILIBAOK) - [BI2UID)

SaImipuedyy

SONUIAY [BI0]
1388y Jo afes
SNOJUE|[AISIIN

SUOHNGLIUOY) JOJIIS AJLALI]
SaIpIsqng [eidpag
watdojaasg Anwiwo)-{e1opa,]
saS1ey) [elauan
53818y Jjouny JatemuLIolg
sa81ey) uoneadny
UONEIO{[Y PIY UOISUS
aUI0dU] [RIudYy
Saxe]

S3nusATY

sasuefed punj
pue sanijiqery {ejo]

Joue[eq pung

sanyIqer] 2po

spunj JaYIQ °ang

aNUIASY pauIdja
ajqedeq SUNoIdy
SO1IB[ES PONIdDY

S9OUB[eE pun,] pue saniiqer]

§19SSY [R10]
S1asSy 19410
spuny JayiQ Wwolg angg
SO[qRAID3Y 1YI0
swa[eAInby 2 ysed
BENNY



PALMER AND COMPANY
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

40 SOUTH FOURTH STREET
EASTON, PENNSYLVANIA 18042

CARL E. FLEMING, C.P.A. ELLSWORTH C. PALMER, CP.A., RM.A.
KEITH E. FLEMING, C.P.A. (Founder 1937-1965)
SCOTT R. FLEMING TELEPHONE (610) 258-0401

FAX (610) 252-9040
E-Mail: office@palmerandcompany.net

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROLS OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND
COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

Honorable Mayor and Member of Council
City of Easton
Easton, Pennsylvania

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller
General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the
aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, the aggregate remaining fund information, and the
general and debt service funds budgetary comparison statements as of the City of Easton, Pennsylvania, as of and
for the year ended December 31, 2019, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively
comprise the City of Easton, Pennsylvania's basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated
October 20, 2020. Other auditors audited the financial statements of City of Easton Redevelopment Authority and
Easton Housing Authority, as described in our report on City of Easton's financial statements. This report does not
include the results of the other auditor's testing of internal control over financial reporting or compliance and other
matters that are reported on separately by those auditors.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City of Easton, Pennsylvania’s
internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Easton, Pennsylvania’s internal control over financial
reporting. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Easton's internal control
over financial reporting.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal
control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will
not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to
merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and
was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that might be significant
deficiencies, or material weaknesses. Given these limitations, we did not identify any deficiencies in internal
control that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above.
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Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City of Easton, Pennsylvania's financial statements are
free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the
determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions
was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests
disclosed no instances of noncompliance that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards .

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal controls or on
compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards in considering the entity's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not
suitable for any other purpose.

Easton, Pennsylvania , .
October 20, 2020 /‘ﬁ,;g;g/;ma-af aAl / ’){ww?
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